contact with my family during the week by phone and chat. Master Thesis International Development Studies This is because of emergencies, but also because I miss them and I like to talk to them more often" "I have six brothers and six sisters: four of the girls are married but still live near Izki and one brother is married, but also lives near Izki" "When I am finished, I want to go back to Ash Shuwayhah because I do not have any relative or friends here in Muscat" "It would be better to have at least some family in Muscat, because otherwise you Students' stories: Omani students in Muscat about their home, family and aspirations would feel so lonely. As Omani, you are very used to having big families and having them around" "The relationships within the village are more close to each other, but in Muscat you learn a lot from interacting with different regions, lifestyles etcetera" "Of course I am Omani, belong to Oman, but there is no difference between places in Oman except geological differences" "The rent is very expensive for a room, and therefore I share a room with my brother and cousin. In total twelve people live in the apartment, with 5 rooms. We hire Eefje van Esch an Indian guy for 21 rials per month Utrecht University to cook for us. We give ten rials per month August, 2011 for the house to buy shared things. With the money that is left, we try to improve the apartment or hire a cleaner" "When you live in the village, you are a farm boy, while in the city you are a metropolis guy" "When it is Eid, the

Students' stories: Omani students in Muscat about their home, family and aspirations

Eefje Johanna van Esch Master Thesis International Development Studies Utrecht University

Host organization: German University of Technology in Oman Supervisor German University of Technology in Oman: Dr. Marike Bontenbal Supervisor Utrecht University: Dr. Gery Nijenhuis

Date: 21st of August 2011

Research Question:

To what extent does sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students in Muscat influence their spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes?

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	4
LIST OF BOXES, FIGURES, MAPS AND TABLES	5
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	6
INTRODUCTION	9

1. THEORETIC AND THEMATIC FRAMEWORK 11 1.1 Place of origin, place of residence and place attachment 11

1.2 'Номе'	12
1.3 Identity	14
1.4 Rural-urban framework	16
1.5 MIGRATION THEORIES	16
1.5.1. Push-pull theory (Lee, 1966)	17
1.5.2. Stepwise/generation wise migration	18

2. RESEARCH FRAMEWORK AND METHODOLOGY

2.1 CONCEPTUAL MODEL	20
2.2 OPERATIONALIZATION	21
2.3 Research Approach	22
2.3.1 Qualitative Methods	23
2.3.2 Quantitative Methods	24
2.3.3 Analytical framework	24
2.4 BIASES AND LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH	25

3. REGIONAL FRAMEWORK 26 3.1 HISTORY 26 3.2 Physical Geography 26 3.3 POLITICAL DIVISION 27 3.4 POPULATION AND ECONOMY 28 3.4.1. Society and Tribes 30 3.4.2 Education 30 3.4.3 Economy 31 3.5 Urbanization 31 33 3.6 Internal migration

19

4.	STU	JDENTS'	STORIES
----	-----	---------	---------

4.1 CHARACTERISTICS SAMPLE POPULATION	36
4.1.1 Universities	40
4.2 The 'outside' student	40
4.2.1 Travelling and visits	41
4.2.2 Home and place attachment	41
4.2.3. Living in Muscat: sticking together with village members	44
4.2.4. Perceptions of change in the 'home' region	45
4.3 The 'inside' student	46
4.3.1. Travelling and visits	47
<i>4.3.2. Home and place attachment</i>	47
4.3.3 Muscat: sticking together with tribal members	48
4.4 Degree of migration and family network	49
4.5 FUTURE	50
4.6 Relationship between the village and city	53

5. CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

55

36

BIBLIOGRAPHY	61
APPENDICES	66
Appendix 1: Topic List	66
Appendix 2: Respondents Overview	67
APPENDIX 3: MAP REGIONAL DIVISION	69

Acknowledgement

While other students of the master programme International Development Studies all had favourite continents or even favourite countries, I doubted where I wanted to go. When looking through the internships list, my eye felt on a particular, rather unusual, destination: Oman. I suddenly remembered the lectures on the Middle East and Northern Africa of Ali de Jong in the regional geography course, whereby she talked about the Middle East with a great passion. Next to it, I recollected the biography I read and wrote on Saïd, for his time one of the few writers originating from a Middle Eastern country, for the course History and Theories of the Human Geography. Whilst still doubtful on the research possibilities as a woman in an Arabic country, I decided to opt for Oman - and I certainly do not regret this.

The internship has been tough at certain moments, searching your own respondents, trying to fit in a total different society, talking to males in groups because otherwise it would be bad for their reputation and coping with the enormous heat of 50 degrees Celsius. On the other hand, bowling in Abayas, getting new insights and eating own farm dates were certainly things I will not forget.

My research in Oman would not have been possible without some key figures and organizations. First of all, I want to thank my "local" supervisor Dr. Marike Bontenbal for her academic and social support, advices, incentives and encouragements in my research. Without her, it would not even have been possible to come to Oman. Next to it, I want to thank my supervisor in the Netherlands, Dr. Gery Nijenhuis for her counsel on my personal journals during the internship and her very valuable advices before and after the internship.

I would also like to thank my host organization, the German University of Technology in Oman for providing accomodation and the department of Sustainable Tourism and Regional Development for brainstorming together on my research. Furthermore, I like to thank my German room- and housemates for the revivement of my german language skills.

Furthermore, last but not least, my research would not have been possible without the respondents from the German University of Technology and Sultan Qaboos University in Muscat, who did not only took the time to tell me their stories, but also offered me dates of their family farms and omani tea.

Shukran!

List of Boxes, Figures, Maps and Tables	
	Page
Boxes	
Box 1: Definitions of home	12
Box 2: The Arab Spring	27
Figures	
Figure 1: Schematic presentation of the concepts of home, place attachment and identity	15
Figure 2: Push-pull model	17
Figure 3: Conceptual Model	20
Figure 4: Population structure Omanis and expats	28
Figure 5: Level of urbanization (%) Oman, 1950-2009	32
Maps	
Map 1: Oman	26
Map 2: Regions of Oman	27
Map 3: Regional division	39
Tables	
Table 1: Regions and governorates of Oman	28
Table 2: Population figures	29
Table 3: Universities and colleges of Oman	30
Table 4: Urbanization rates in Oman, 1957-2003	31
Table 5: Primacy	32
Table 6: Internal migration 1993-2003 between regions and governorates of Oman	34
Table 7: Division of internal migrants by age and sex (%), 2003	34
Table 8: Internal migrants' level of education, Oman, 2003	34
Table 9: Places of students	38
Table 10: Regions and governorates respondents	38

Executive Summary

Since the discovery of oil in the Middle East, the countries in this region have seen a relatively rapid development. This trigger of development was especially favourable for the capital cities of the countries - a high urbanization rate was very common between the 1960s and 1990s. Urbanization was caused by internal migration, international migration and natural growth. Although there are a lot of studies on international migration and natural population growth in the Middle East, little is known about internal migration. This research is aimed at understanding internal migration in Oman, a country within the Middle East. The main research question is: to what extent does sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students in Muscat influence their spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes?

According to literature, internal migration is created by certain pull and push factors of the place of origin and place of (desired) residence, but also by more fluent concepts, such as family, home and migration behaviour. The structure of the society, perceptions of 'home' and the cultural and social values have considerable influence on internal migration.

Taking a qualitative approach, 68 university students of the German University of Technology in Oman and the Sultan Qaboos University have been interviewed in Muscat during the period February-May 2011. In these interviews their spatial mobility, place attachment, family and tribal background and future residential and employment aspirations have been assessed. The stories of tertiary students in Muscat can help to get insight in the issue of internal migration in Oman. Internal migration has considerable influence on the discussion on home (versus non-home), the rural-urban framework and primacy. In addition, experts and other key persons have been interviewed in-depth on issues of migration, population and urbanization in Oman.

The migration behaviour of students is influenced by their place of origin and place of residence. For students of which the place of origin is not their place of residence ('outside' students), a temporary cyclical migration pattern exists: while many study and live in Muscat during weekdays, they return to their families in the place of origin in the weekends. Whereas infrastructure and modes of transport do not seem to limit students in their travel behaviour, distance does. The further the distance between the place of origin and the place of study, the less inclined respondents are to travel.

The reason for this pattern to evolve is partly created by the (strength of) place attachment the students have to their place of origin. This place attachment is formed by cultural (tribal society and customs), social (presence of family and friends) and physical attachment (memories on the surrounding). This place attachment does not have the same strength for all the students who have their place of origin outside Muscat. For fifty percent of 'outside' students, the place attachment to the place of origin is strong, which also results in a positive view of the place of origin versus a more negative view of Muscat. For 10% of the 'outside' students, there is no place attachment to the place of origin but to the place of residence, which results in a positive view of Muscat and a negative view of place of origin. Around 40% of the 'outside' students do not really have a clear place attachment to either place of residence or place of origin and no black-and-white perception of negative versus positive feelings on the different places. The 'inside' students (students of which Muscat is place of origin and place of residence), attach to Muscat social and physical. Around 62% of the 'inside' students attaches culturally to the place of their family's ancestry, which in all cases is not Muscat. Nevertheless, while Muscat is viewed positively, every other place outside Muscat is viewed negatively, despite the cultural attachment in some cases.

For the students, home is created by the (strength) of place attachment and identity. The identity of the students is formed by group processes, social and cultural values and their own beliefs. Identity helps them to get grips with the different external influences and helps to guide their behaviour, while still being authentic to themselves. Due to the presence of family in the place of origin and the formed identity based on the place of origin, students have strong linkages with their place of origin. The position the respondent takes up in the migrant history of the (extended) family is important in this, since students who are the first in their family to migrate to Muscat tend to go home more often. Furthermore, the more relatives reside outside the home region, especially in Muscat, the less place attachment and likeliness to return home there seems to be. Although the students have been first in their family to migrate to Muscat, earlier generations have already migrated to a more densely populated part of Oman from their village (generation-wise and stepwise migration).

It is possible that, through the absence of home students get more feeling of home. It is seen that the students of which place of origin is place of residence have more difficulty with stating what home is than the students of which this is not the case. Because these students are not away from home, it is more difficult for them to grasp place attachment, belonging and home, since they do not have anything to compare it with. Furthermore, the city of Muscat does not really have an own identity. This can also explain the fact that although even if the students' parents are born in Muscat, the 'inside' students will still say they originate from the region of their grandparents.

For most students, home represents the students' sense of belonging somewhere. Home describes ideas about people's relationship with one another, especially family, and with places, spaces and things and their interrelations. The significance of home is for most students larger than the geographic space where one belongs. Home refers to a place where one would encounter protectiveness and a sense of being surrounded by individuals who seemingly share the same characteristics. The students base their attachment on relations with friends, family and emotional ties. The meaning people ascribe to their home and how they describe relationships to their home are part of a persons' identity.

'Home' has an influence on how students perceive their future. In the perception of future there are clear gender differences. Male students have a focus on employment, whereas female students focus on closeness to family and friends. This difference in perspectives is partly created by the (cultural) obligation of males to support their family, while females have the 'obligation' to create and support their family in more 'caring' ways. Important to consider is the time span people have lived somewhere.

For the students, home is a mixed definition. It is as well as a physical structure, territory, locus in space, self and self-identity as a social and cultural unit. Home can refer as much to beliefs, customs or traditions as physical places or buildings. It can be concluded that in Oman home, including all its facets, has a great influence upon the spatial mobility, future and aspirations of the student. The sense of home, family ties and place attachment in their place of origin and place of residence, together with their spatial mobility, future aspirations and attitudes are highly influencing each other. Even students of which place attachment to home is low experience a considerable influence of family and cultural factors on their aspirations and future attitudes. In most cases, the family (migrant history) can constrain and encourage (social) behaviour. It influences the individual identity of the students, which is shaped by social and cultural factors. Students develop an affective bond or link with their place of origin, which greatly influences how they think about themselves and about their future. Next to influencing the students and their families, it has also consequences for the urbanization in the country, for habits in the society and for the challenges for the government. The differences between the 'inside' and 'outside' students are not enormous: the 'outside' students have, due to different factors, more grip on what they call home than the 'inside' students, while the 'inside' students have a clearer future perspective.

Introduction

The Middle East is a mystery to most people. The mysterious oriental views, described by Saïd and shown in the Disney movie Aladdin, are still very common. This is caused by several factors, of which language barriers and no real freedom of press are a few. It is difficult to find studies (written in English language) on some countries in the Middle East, especially the ones of less interest by the Western world. Most of the time, internal processes in the Middle East, and especially the Arabian Peninsula, are overlooked in the research field. There is a lot of knowledge about international forces and processes in the Middle East, such as international migration, but what about processes within the countries?

The Middle Eastern countries are known for their rapid development and urbanization. Mainly due to the discovery of oil in the 1950s, the countries in this region have seen a relatively rapid development. This trigger of development was especially favourable for the capital cities of the countries - a high urbanization rate was very common between the 1960s and 1990s, whereby urbanization was caused by internal migration, international migration and natural growth. Although there are a lot of studies on international migration and natural population growth in the Middle East, little is known about internal migration. Internal migration can have a considerable amount of influence on urbanization, and is especially of importance in the rural-urban framework (Tacoli, 1998). Furthermore, internal migration can have an influence upon identities and society of countries, whereby the exchanges between different people from different regions are considered as important (Wiborg, 2004). Next to it, it is important to consider what future influence internal migration can have, especially on primacy and urbanization.

This research is aimed at understanding internal migration in Oman, a country within the Middle East. The aim of this thesis is to gain insight into the complex relationship between sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students on the one hand and their spatial mobility, future aspirations and attitudes on the other hand. Next to contributing on knowledge on Oman, the research wants to contribute to the interdisciplinary discussion on the concept of home and urbanization. Students are chosen for a first step research towards internal migration research and research on urbanization in Oman. Approximately 60% of the population of Oman is under 25 years, creating a huge youth bulge in the population composition of Oman, which has a considerable influence on the social and economic structure and processes of the country. Therefore it is interesting to know their spatial mobility, aspirations and attitudes. Furthermore, it is interesting to what extent sense of home, family ties and place attachment plays a role. Their viewpoints can have considerable influence on the urbanization and demand on services in Oman in the future. If Muscat continues to attract people as the primate city, less people will remain in the villages, which can create an in use of facilities in the villages and over urbanization in Muscat. The students' stories will be used as a means of understanding how people ascribe meaning to places and how this is related to the formation and negotiation of identity.

According to literature, internal migration is created by certain pull and push factors of the regions, but also by more fluent concepts, such as family, home and migration behaviour. The structure of the society, perceptions of 'home' and the cultural and social values have considerable influence on internal migration, now and in the future of students after graduation. To study these concepts in the context of Oman, the theories on these subjects and the important (distinguishing) characteristics of Oman are described as the background against which the individual student stories are reflected. This is all done on the basis of the following research question:

To what extent does sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students in Muscat influence their spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes?

The research emphasizes perception, the spatial mobility patterns of the own population of a country, the questions of what is home and to see how family and family history has an influence in (future) aspirations and attitudes, without losing sight of the individual. Taking a qualitative approach, 68 university students have been interviewed in Muscat during the period February-May 2011 to assess their migration patterns, place attachment, family and tribal background and future residential and employment aspirations. In addition, experts and other key persons have been interviewed in-depth on issues of migration, population and urbanization in Oman.

The thesis starts with reviewing concepts of home, place attachment, rural-urban interaction and migration theories. In order to understand these concepts in Oman, it is important to point out the discussions and issues on the different concepts. After these concept-related discussions, the methodology is presented. In the methodological part, the research question and sub questions are discussed, including the conceptual model and operationalization. Furthermore, the approach for qualitative research is explained. Afterwards a short overview of the history of Oman, socio-demographic characteristics, economic processes, urbanization and internal migration is presented. Subsequently, the results of the unique stories of the respondents are presented and discussed. Furthermore, an analysis on the implications of sense of 'home' and place attachment for students' current and future (mobility) behaviour is given. The results of the stories concludes with addressing the effects of internal migration on both rural and urban areas, with a focus on recent regional economic development policies initiated by the national government to reduce Muscat economical and population primacy. At the end of the thesis, the research question is answered and a discussion on the several concepts in combination with the research results is presented. The Arabic names are translated in the most common way of writing the names of the village, cities and people in the English language.

1. Theoretic and Thematic Framework

In order to gain knowledge on the complex relationship between sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students on the one hand and their spatial mobility, future aspirations and attitudes on the other hand, it is important to discuss some relevant concepts and to distinguish them. Place of origin, place of residence, place attachment, home and identity are all interlinked concepts, but none of them are synonyms for each other. While some concepts are rather fixed, other concepts are more fluent and flexible. The aim of this theoretical framework is to provide background theory on the several issues, but is not meant as a comprehensive in-depth literature report. It wants to point out the several issues and main discussion on the concepts.

1.1 Place of origin, place of residence and place attachment

To start with, place of origin and place of residence are rather fixed concepts. These are real places, fixed in a geographical spatial setting somewhere. However, the range of the concept can differ: the address of a house, the street, the neighbourhood, the village/city, the municipality, the region etcetera. Place of origin can either be the place of family ancestry or place of birth (in some cases place of birth and place of family ancestry is the same). Although place of origin and residence are separated here, it is possible that place of origin and place of residence are the same places. If place of origin is the place of residence, this means that either a person has never migrated from the house they live, or have never migrated outside the city/village where they came from (but they could have migrated within the city/village) (Hidalgo & Hernandez, 2001).

Interlinked to the concepts of place of origin and place of residence is place attachment. As the term place attachment implies, it can be defined as the emotional and affective bond or link that people develop towards specific places (Hidalgo & Hernandez, 2001; Lewicka, 2010). The degree of attachment varies by demographic characteristics (sex and age), in time and by the different kinds of attachment. Women tend to have greater place attachment than men, and attachment to place increases with age (Hidalgo & Hernandez, 2001). There are also differences between the physical attachment, e.g. the natural surroundings, and the social attachment, e.g. to family or friends, of a place. Living in a place is not a necessary condition for attachment to it. Place attachment is therefore a fluid concept, whereby "*sites are never simply locations. Rather, they are sites for someone and of something*" (Wiborg, 2004).

In the recent light of globalization, there are authors who argue that attachment to place is undermined by processes of mobility and globalization. The central place of mobility and space of flows would prevent the development of strong affection for any particular place, because places would be no more than temporary stations (Castells, 1998). In contradiction, other authors claim that globalisation and mobility lead to an increased focus on the local and the value of attachment. It would be rather a reshaping and alteration of senses of place, in which the relationship between people and places are continuously changing (Wiborg, 2004).

1.2 'Home'

Place attachment is an important concept related to home. Home is a complex and multi-layered geographical concept. 'Home' has various definitions:

- Home as physical structure: a free-standing, detached unit with definable edges and boundaries to adjacent open space.
- Home as territory: a psychological tie to the region or vicinity around ones dwelling.
- Home as locus in space: home is a common place to which one regularly returns and uses as a central point of reference in the world.
- Home as self and self-identity: home becomes a symbol for self, a place from which one gains identity.
- Home as social and cultural unit: the social milieu of their daily interactions with other people (Case, 1996).

Box 1: Definitions of home

According to the dictionary, home has several meaning:

- 1. The place or a place where one lives: *have you no home to go to?*
- 2. a house or other dwelling.
- 3. a family or other group living in a house or other place.
- 4. a person's country, city, especially viewed as a birthplace, a residence during one's early years, or a place dear to one.
- 5. the environment or habitat of a person or animal.
- 6. the place where something is invented, founded or developed: *the US is the home of baseball*.
- a) a building or organization set up to care for orphans, the aged etceterab) an informal name for a mental home.
- 8. a home from home a place other than one's own home where one can be at ease.
- 9. at home in, on, or with, familiar or conversant with.
- 10. bring home to. a. to make clear to. b. to place the blame on (Mallett, 2004)

In all these terms, home is located in physical, social and cultural aspects. Home and its particular physical form are embodied with emotional, social, physical and symbolic significance through patterns of interaction over time (Moore, 2000; Mallett, 2004). Home is variously described in the literature as conflated with or related to house, family, haven, self, gender, and journeying (Mallett, 2004). There are five attributes of home: centrality; continuity; privacy; self expression and personal identity. These attributes differentiated a home from a house (Moore, 2000; Mallett, 2004). Whilst house and household are components of home, on their own they do not capture the complex socio-spatial relations and emotions that define home (Blunt & Dowling, 2006).

Some authors mix all the different definitions, whereby they pinpoint the different kinds of home people can have/create. According to Black (2002), home can refer as much to beliefs, customs or traditions as physical places or buildings. Home is subject to constant reinterpretation and flux. Home can refer to a building, a village, a town or a region. It also has to do with an individuals' sense of belonging and ones identity. The identification of home is located in its spatio-temporal context Linked to Blacks' perception on home, Mallett (2004) argues that the boundaries of home can be permeable and/or impermeable. Home can be singular and/or plural, alienable and/or inalienable, fixed and stable and/or mobile and changing. It can be associated with feelings of comfort, ease intimacy, relaxation and security. It can or cannot be associated with family. Home can be an expression of one's identity and sense of self and/or one's body might be home to the self. It can constitute belonging and/or create a sense of marginalisation and estrangement. Home can be given and/or made, familiar and/or strange, an atmosphere and/or an activity, a relevant and/or irrelevant concept. It can provide a context for analysing ideas and practices about intimacy, family, kinship, gender, ethnicity, class, age and sexuality.

This is underlined by Gonçalves & Morais (2008). Due to the fact that home is more than just a location, home's significance is larger as the geographic space where one belongs. Home can be the imagined location, more fixed in a mental landscape than in actual geography. People feel at home with themselves as a rule, because they are familiar with their past actions and their ongoing activities, feelings, preoccupations, tendencies, and intentions, which are spatially expressed through personal geographies. Regarding the private sphere, home traditionally referred to the place where one would encounter protectiveness, warmth, a sense of being surrounded by individuals who seemingly share the same characteristics (Gonçalves & Morais, 2008). Family and home are overlapping concepts, but are by no means identical (Hareven, 1991).

To discover what home is for people, questions on home are aimed to search what home means to people and where, when and why do they feel at home. It is important to consider how sense of home travels across different times, places and scales. Some may speak of the physical structure of their house or dwelling; others may refer to relationship or connections over space and time. The sense of home might be closely shape by memories of childhood, alongside present experiences and your dreams of the future. Home is a place, a site in which we live. But, more than this, home is both a place/physical location and a set of feelings. Home is the fusion of a feeling at home, sense of comfort, belonging with a particular place. These may be feelings of belonging, desire and intimacy ('feeling at home'), but can also be feelings of fear, violence and alienation. Home does not simply exist but is made. Home is a process of creating and understanding forms of dwelling and belonging. People create home through social and emotional relationships. Home is also created materially. Home is thus a spatial imaginary: a set of intersecting and variable ideas and feelings, which are related to context and which construct places, extend across spaces and scales and connect places (Blunt & Dowling, 2006).

Next to mixing definitions, some authors note that being away from home influences the perception of home. The things, places, activities and people associated with home become more apparent through their absence. The longer one is away from home, the stronger and more significant is the contrast clarifying persons' minds what it is about home that they miss and wish to regain by returning to it (Case, 1996). The concept of home is constructed on the division into home and non-home contexts. Consequently, they come to know home much more by its absence from a non-home perspective (Terkenli, 1995; Blunt & Dowling, 2006).

1.3 Identity

Identity can be described as the distinguishing character or personality of an individual (the psychological definition; which differs from philosophical definitions that attempt to answer the question of what underlies the uniqueness or continuity of a person). An identity is intertwined with a sense of authenticity. For instance, there are many similarities between two people occupying the role of students. But they differ in their sense of personal identity – the history, experiences, orientations, and behavioural intentions that characterize them like no other individuals. Personal identity is thus a combination of personality factors and self-reflected understandings that circumscribe potential action (Schwartz et al., 2011).

Identity represents the individuals' beliefs about what the self was in the past and might become in the future (Hauge, 2007; Cinnirella, 1998; Faddegon et al., 2008; Schwartz et al., 2011). Identity is a fluid concept, which is altered to new circumstances (Pater, Béneker & Buunk, 2004; Paasi, 2002). Changes occur in response to persistent pressure. Identity is not a thing but rather a loop of thought, feeling, intention and memory. Feeling, intuitions and emotions may not always neatly line up with beliefs, goals and ideals (Schwartz et al., 2011).

Identity is a form of categorization, whereby boundaries are used to distinguish one's own identity from others (Hauge, 2007; Cinnirella, 1998). Identities provide guidance for behaviour, thereby reducing uncertainties and buffering against stress and anxiety (Bagger et al., 2008). Important in identity is kinship, lifestyle, class, gender and so on. As with place attachment, increasing social and spatial mobility have challenged the traditional links between identity and place (Wiborg, 2004).

As pointed out earlier, all these concepts (despite of being fluent or more fixed) are linked to each other. A place can be fixed, as geographical locality, but it can also be a system of social relations, a way of life or a basis for symbols. Because of the importance of relations to and of places, the meaning people ascribe to their place of origin and residence and how they describe their relationships to their place of origin and residence can be considered as part of forming and framing their identity (Wiborg, 2004). Home can be an expression of one's (possibly fluid) identity. As Hauge (2007) states, place attachment comprises of memories, thoughts, values and settings, and the relationship among different geographical settings (such as home, school, neighbourhood). This can be seen in the way people may refer to themselves, by describing what country they live in, what city or town they come from, or if they are a "countryside" or a "city" person, not only expressing a social identity but also a physical identity. These are more than social references; they refer to physical places where people live. Because places are subject to fluid concepts such as memories, places do not have a permanent meaning; their meaning is renegotiated continually (Hauge, 2007). Places can be used in the construction of images or in the formation of identity (Wiborg, 2004). Schematically, the concepts can be linked in the following ways:





Source: Authors own creation

To conclude, place of residence and place of origin (which can be the same) are geographically fixed, while home is more fluently, mostly a place where people feel at ease. Home is an overarching concept, which can be divided into place attachment and identity. Home can be an expression of one's identity in combination with the attachment people have to specific places. This attachment can take different angles and can be as well social/cultural attachment as physical attachment. Home can provide a context for analysing ideas and practices about intimacy, family, kinship, gender, ethnicity, class, age and sexuality. These factors are included in identity and attachment, whereby social attachment is aimed at family, cultural attachment on kinship while physical attachment is about memories of the surroundings of a place. Identity on the other hand is about one's gender, age and sexuality, shortly the personality of an individual. Home can be the place in which one gains identity.

It is possible that the place of residence is the place of origin, the place where people feel attached to and what they consider as home, but this does not have to be the case. Although the concepts are split up, most of the concepts influence and relate to each other. The boundaries between the concepts are not black-and-white. While home consists of identity and place attachment, it is possible that these factors also have an influence of home. It is however impossible to attach to a place which is not viewed as a home, but is possible to attach to a place where a person does not live. Also the boundaries between physical attachment, social attachment and cultural attachment can be difficult to distinguish, since they are influencing each other (for example, family can influence the memories people have on the surroundings of the place). Identity can be created without home, but is an important factor contributing to how people perceive their homes and what feelings they have at home. Furthermore, some concepts can overlap, since they share common characteristics (for example, identity is partly based on memories as is physical (place) attachment).

1.4 Rural-urban framework

Rural and urban areas tend to be examined and studied in relative isolation, without sufficiently considering the linkages connecting them (Tacoli, 1998). However, understanding these interactions between the 'rural' and the 'urban' can shed light on patterns of economic, social and cultural change in urban as well as rural areas, and provide a deeper understanding of the driving forces and effects of urbanization processes. Population growth, urbanization and the declining importance in absolute terms of the agricultural sector in the economic base of many regions means that rural-urban linkages and interactions play an increasingly significant role in local economies and in the livelihoods of large numbers of people (Tacoli, 2002; Huang, Rozelle & Wang, 2006). These linkages and interactions are conceptualized (spatial) 'flows'. According to Castells (1998), "flows are purposeful, repetitive, programmable sequences of exchange and interaction between physically disjointed positions held by social actors in the economic, political, and symbolic structures of society". Prominent and visible is the flow of people, often induced by (circular/temporary) migration and mobility, which is driven by employment and services needs. The flow of people is intrinsically connected to the flow of what Levitt (1998) has termed 'social remittances': the ideas, behaviours, identities and social capital that are exchanged between migrant host and home communities. Other flows linking the urban and the rural include flows of goods, money and information (Huang, Rozelle & Wang, 2006).

Important in the rural-urban framework is urban primacy. Urban primacy refers to a country's largest one or two cities being "abnormally" large relative to the country's next largest cities. A primate city is "at least twice as large as the next largest city and more than twice as significant. Frequently, primate cities account for at least one-fifth of the population. Although there is no specific ratio that is used as a benchmark for identifying urban systems dominated by a primate city, once the largest city is over five times as large as its nearest competitor, urban systems are generally considered to demonstrate primacy. Primacy is not only identified by population data, but also by relationships between the primate city exerts an overwhelming influence over the country's economic, social and political life. Urban primacy exists because it is assumed that a high degree of urban concentration in the early stages of economic development is viewed as essential to efficiency (Moomaw & Alwosabi, 2004; Kent, 2006).

1.5 Migration theories

There are several migration theories, trying to explain the interaction between the rural and the urban framework, with regard to the flow of people and migration behaviour. In this research, especially the push-pull theory of Lee (1966) and the stepwise migration theory are considered as important. The theory of Lee is one of the basis theories which explains migration behaviour, and especially factors of importance in migration decisions. The stepwise migration theory is especially valid for a country such as Oman, whereby the primate city has a strong attraction force on the other parts of the county. Furthermore, urban sprawl is limited by climate and soil conditions, creating incentives for step-wise migration.

1.5.1. Push-pull theory (Lee, 1966)

According to Lee, every decision of migration involves an origin, a destination and an intervening set of obstacles:

- <u>Factors associated with the area of origin</u>. Persons living in an area have an immediate and often long-term acquaintance with the area and are usually able to make considered and unhurried judgments regarding them.
- <u>Factors associated with the area of destination</u>. In these factors, there is always an element of ignorance or even mystery about the area of destination, and there is always be some uncertainty with regard to the reception of a migrant in a new area.
- <u>Intervening obstacles</u>. Between every two points there stands a set of intervening obstacles. The most common intervening obstacle is distance, both physical (time and costs of travelling to urban areas) and socio-cultural distance (differences with respect to language, religion, values etcetera). Other examples are actual physical barriers or immigration laws which restricts movement.
- <u>Personal factors</u>. In every area there are countless factors which act to hold people within the area or attract people to it. Some of these are more or less constant throughout the life of the individual, while others are associated with stages in the life cycle. A person who has once migrated and who has once broken the bonds which tie him to the place in which he has spent his childhood is more likely to migrate again than is the person who has never previously migrated. Factors which stimulate migration include increased levels of education, aspiration, awareness of urban opportunities and general level of modernization (Lee, 1966; Rhoda, 1983; Boyle, Halfacree & Robinson, 1998).

With regard to the factors associated with the area of origin and destination, there are always some factors which tend to hold people in the area while other factors tend to repel them.

Such factors may be thought of as "push" and "pull" forces. Push factors in the case of rural-urban migration can include unemployment, lack of land and rural poverty. Pull factors can be employment in the cities, better living conditions and better access to services. Nevertheless, most of these factors are not the actual factors at origin and destination, but a perception of these factors. Decisions are never completely rational, (Lee, 1966).





Source: Lee, 1966

The push-pull model is criticized in several ways. The theory fails to explain why some people in a certain country or region migrate and others do not, while facing the same conditions. Furthermore, it does not assign relative weights to the different factors affecting migration decisions. Push-pull models also tend to ignore the heterogeneity and internal stratification of societies and do not consider that either push or pull factors are likely to work out in a differentiated way on the individual level. Another weakness is that push and pull factors are generally mirrored to each other, whereby it becomes arbitrary and open to subjective judgment to establish whether the push or the pull is dominant. It also fails to see migration as a social process. People do not typically move because they expect to find a 'better environment' or 'less population pressure', but because they expect to be able to make a more satisfying living elsewhere. In fact, many migrants tend to move from areas with relatively low population densities and relatively little environmental degradation to environmentally degraded areas with high population densities. Furthermore, the push-pull model can be criticized for unrealistically viewing migration as a cost-benefit calculation by individuals (Haas, 2008).

1.5.2. Stepwise/generation wise migration

Stepwise migration is the migration which occurs in a series of movement. Examples are the migration from a hamlet to a village, from village to a town, from a town to a city (Oxford Dictionary of Geography, 2009). Step-wise migration is classified in two ways:

- Movement by stages from farther to nearer and nearer places until the moves eventually end up in the primate city. The step-wise element is in respect to the distance factors.
- Movements by hierarchical pattern up the settlement ranks. This means that the pattern is accessed in terms of the ranks of the places by their population size (Afolayan, 1985). This is also described as chain migration, whereby intermediate centres send population to higher order centres and they in turn receive population from the rural areas and smaller urban places, or as step-wise migration in which an individual or group of individuals migrate into higher order nodes from rural areas moving by way of intermediate centres. The reason for this is that although provincial towns are smaller than the larger cities, these towns are nearer in time, costs, energy, cultural and social differences. The urbanward drift of people is a learning process, in which a migrant from a distant rural setting steadily moves in stages via smaller to bigger and bigger settlements and thereby reducing the uncertainties encountered in migration (Riddell & Harvey, 1972; Afolayan, 1985).

Stepwise migration has been defined as "a process of human behaviour in which individuals or families embark on a migration path of acculturation which gradually takes them, by way of intermediate steps, from a traditional-rural environment to the modern urban environment" (Paul, 2011).

2. Research Framework and Methodology

The aim of the research is to gain insight into the complex relationship between sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students on the one hand and their spatial mobility, future aspirations and attitudes on the other hand. The research wants to contribute to the knowledge about internal migration and urbanization in Oman. The main question is:

To what extent does sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students in Muscat influence their spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes?

The research starts with getting grips of the concept of home in a selected case study of tertiary students in Oman. As mentioned before, Oman knows a huge youth bulge, which has a considerable influence on the social and economic structure and processes of the country. Therefore it is interesting to know their perception on home, mobility patterns, aspirations and attitudes. Furthermore, it is interesting to what extent family ties and place attachment plays a role in this. The research emphasizes perception of students on several issues the spatial mobility patterns of the own population of a country, the questions of what is home and to see how family and family history has an influence in future aspirations and attitudes. There is a special focus on the perception of the future of the students.

To research this, next to the main question, the following sub questions are asked:

- 1. What are the travelling and visiting patterns of the students?
- 2. What are the perceptions of students on family, home, and place attachment?
- *3.* To what extent does family and family migrant history have an influence on the spatial mobility of students?
- 4. To what extent are future aspirations and expectations of students influenced by home?

Sub question 1: What are the travelling and visiting patterns of the students?

The first question aims at studying the travelling and visiting patterns of students. From students whereby the place of origin is not Muscat, it is especially interesting to consider their visiting patterns. For the students of which the place of origin is Muscat, it is interesting to see if and which travelling patterns they have. Questions on place of origin, place of residence, travel time (absolute and relative), their weekend plans, and transportation facilities are asked to get grip on these issues.

Sub question 2: What are the perceptions of students on family, home, and place attachment?

This questions aims at getting grasp with what students see as their home, how their relationship with their family is (and what family includes) and to what extent they have an attachment to a certain place or places (either origin, residence or both). Stories told about their families the family composition, feeling at ease at certain places, questions on the feelings about Muscat, the feelings about their place of origin (if this differs with Muscat), importance of the tribe etcetera are asked in order to answer this question.

Sub question 3: To what extent does family and family migrant history have an influence on the spatial mobility of students?

In the Islamic world, families are considered as one of the most important things in life. Therefore, there is probably some influence of family on the students' spatial mobility and aspirations. Furthermore, family history can have an influence on perceptions and actions of the students. As stated in the theory, if people or family members have broken the connection with their place of origin, it might be easier for other family members to migrate. Stepwise and generation wise migration can have an influence on the perception of migration, mobility and the perceptions of home.

Sub question 4: To what extent are future aspirations and expectations of students influenced by home?

To see to what extent future aspirations and expectations are influenced, it is important to consider the influence of home, which includes role of family in decisions, the role of the students themselves, the assigned gender roles and the importance they attach to home. For example, in many countries females have to take care of their family, while males should earn the income to sustain their family. Although family and gender roles are part of home, it is important to distinguish the concepts to get a better overview. The information on future aspirations is taken with a notion that it is highly subjective and unpredictable.



2.1 Conceptual Model

* In some cases, place of origin and place of residence are overlapping

In the conceptual model, it can be seen that place of origin and place of residence are connected to each other by travel patterns, and are more or less fixed concepts. Home on the other hand is a more fluent concept, influence by place of origin and place of residence. On its turn, it is influenced by and influences place attachment and identity of students. Place attachment can be split into physical/territory, social and cultural attachment. As mentioned in the theoretical framework, the concept cannot be divided into black-and-white variables.

2.2 Operationalization

The research question addresses several concepts and issues, such as (sense of) home, place attachment, spatial mobility, future perspectives and family. Place of origin can either be the place of family ancestry or place of birth (in some cases place of birth and place of family ancestry is the same). By asking about place of origin, it has to be made clear what the students think it consists of and whether this includes only the place they were born or/and the place of family ancestry. A check question hereby is the question if they still live there, and if not, who still live and if they were born there. The place of residence is the place they currently live most of the time.

Home is the overarching concept. Home is seen as the place where the students feel at ease and most comfortable with the situation and with themselves. Mostly this coincides with the place of origin or place of residence (although those two places can be the same). Home consists of two parts - place attachment and identity. By asking students about their home (basically the place where they feel most comfortable and really can be themselves without any judgment), it becomes clear to what extent place attachment and identity (operationalized in the next paragraph) are included in this. Also feeling to belong somewhere can indicate what students consider as their homes. To check whether students have understood the concept of home the same way, students opinions on what is home are asked. By questioning on home, it can be made clear what they include in home, for example the physical structure, the presence of family etcetera. This can help to see to what extent literature is representative for the Omani students' ideas on home.

Since home exists of the components of identity and place attachment, it has to be made clear what influence and how strong the place attachment is and how identity is involved in the process of home. Place attachment can be as well physical/territory as social/cultural. The social/cultural part coincides with family and cultural customs, while physical attachment coincides with memories of the surrounding. What do students think of the environment of their home? Do they have certain memories which make them attached to a place? Place attachment can furthermore be measured by questions about memories, values and by letting people describe what they think about their place of residence and place of origin. By way of referring to those places, it can be made clear how they see those places, and why. The way of referring to places also makes clear the strength of the attachment people have. The memories people recollect of the different places and the extent to which they feel at ease to a place can indicate the strength of the place attachment. Also important is to take into account how people express their feelings of home, either with symbolic or emotional aspects, or more surrounding aspects or both. In some cases, it is difficult to distinguish the social and cultural attachment from the physical attachment, since both are reinforcing each other. An important aspect of social attachment is family migrant history, which can partly explain the attachment.

Identity is more aimed at describing how individuals perceive things. This is part of home, in the way that it can clarify why people distinguish certain aspects which can create home. Identity is used to create boundaries to distinguish one's own identity. For the students, the influence of gender roles and kinship are made clear in their stories, by telling things they take for granted. In Oman, females should take care for the households and the men should earn the money - these are gender roles which can be stated by students as well. Identity can help to guide behaviour and lead to understanding of a situation due to a combination of personality factors and understanding of and perception of actions with regard to considering home. The questions on identity have mainly to do with gender roles and ones individual perception of individuality in decision-making and mobility processes. Identity therefore involves how people handle gender roles and what their intentions and feelings are to certain things.

As mentioned before, home can be the place of origin or/and place of residence. People can feel more at home at their place of origin because of family, but feel more attached to their place of residence because of their friends and memories they have at the place of residence. In some cases, place of residence is place of origin whereby this distinction between the overarching concept of home and place attachment can be less clear for students themselves.

Next to asking students about their perceptions of home, place attachment and identity (in words described in the foregoing paragraph), questions on their spatial patterns and visiting patterns can help to describe their migration behaviour, and in some cases can even explain their future attitudes. By asking about their mobility and views on the (different) lifestyles at home and at the place of residence, it is possible to grasp the interaction patterns between home and the place of origin. Next to it, changes in home or/and place of origin can also result from mobility and visiting patterns. These patterns can be measured by direction and frequency.

2.3 Research approach

Research was carried out between February and May 2011 in Muscat among university students to assess their (education-driven) spatial mobility patterns and place attachment to both the place of origin and place of study (i.e. Muscat), and their concept of 'home'. Students are chosen for a first step in internal migration research in Oman and research on urbanization in Oman. The age group under 25 years is the biggest age group in Oman and their viewpoints can have considerable influence on the urbanization and demand on services in Oman in the future. The students were not selected on the basis of a particular background, but rather on who happened to be around at a certain time (convenience sampling). Therefore, there are no generalization possibilities of this research study. The students in this study are not selected to constitute a representative sample.

To gain access to the different universities and the students, a snowball sampling was used. By making contact with an initial group of scholarship receivers at GUtech and GUtech students of the department of Sustainable Tourism and Regional Development more and more students wanted to participate in the interviewing. Next to it, some of these students had contacts at the Sultan Qaboos University, providing a valuable link to that university. Respondents were approached in public places at both university campuses, such as cafeterias and student common rooms. The research with some students has taken place in group interviews, since they felt more comfortable to talk to the researcher together.

To test preliminary findings of the research, a feedback lecture to GUtech Omani students and a presentation to GUtech staff were given. Furthermore, part of the research was presented at the Cambridge Gulf Research Meeting 2011 in July.

2.3.1 Qualitative Methods

Qualitative research allows the answering of questions about the nature of social phenomena and is very valuable for getting insights, development of ideas and substantial details about social phenomena. Since the aim of the research is to get more insight and the basis of the research is explanatory, the qualitative methods dominate the empirical parts of the research.

Data were obtained through in-depth semi-structured interviews. Interviews are semistructured, since this gives the opportunity of interviewees to contribute with non-anticipated answers, but it is also possible for the researcher to give structure to the interview and to get answer on important questions. The interviews were structured by a topic-list (appendix 1), whereby main questions, follow-up questions and summarizing questions are used. Some of the questions needed strict clarification because of the low level of English, and therefore some of the answers where pushed in a certain direction. For example, when asking about the relatives of students, they needed a specific clarification of family member, whereby relatives where split up by asking about aunts, uncles, cousins, brothers, sisters, grandparents etcetera.

During the interviews, students were asked about their family and tribal background, about their place of origin, place of residence of themselves and relatives, educational background, perceptions of village and city life, migration history of the respondent and his/her relatives, questions related to place attachment and identity, and their ideas about and hopes for their future place of residence. The stories told by the students shed light on their relationship with their home place, their families, their place of study and their mobility patterns. Life stories provide a rich source for studying personal memories and lived experiences of home. Personal stories about home provide vivid accounts of everyday, life and what it means to feel at home or not at home, both in past and the present. As confirmed in the study of Wiborg (2004), telling their own unique story allows students to touch upon their cultural and social values as well as the scope and nature of their attachment to both their place of origin and place of residence. Which elements the students use and how they use them to emphasize attachment demonstrates how they perceive the relationship between people and places and how different places are ascribed meaning to.

In addition to interviewing students, experts and other key persons have been interviewed in-depth in Oman on issues of migration, population and urbanization. Especially important for getting grips with the research were interviews with Al-Harthy, an Arabic professor who did research on the same topic in Arabic in 1992 and Heba Aziz, an Egyptian anthropologist living in Oman since a long time and working at GUtech.

2.3.2 Quantitative Methods

Quantitative data is collected from secondary sources. Studies from the ministry and other sources are used to back-up the research with quantitative data. Important for population figures are the censuses of 1993, 2003 and 2010. Unfortunately, due to the Arabic Spring protests and dismantling of the Ministry of National Economy (which exercised the Omani census) in March 2011, it is not possible to have full access to the census of 2010.

Important to note is that internal migration is difficult to extract from statistics. This is because migration is an act of freedom of people and there is no need for people to register at the new wilayat. Furthermore, in the census internal migration is measured by the questions where people have lived 10 years ago and where they are living now – there is no in-between registration. Next to it, the degree of accuracy of the census data of the government is doubtful. For example, the population estimates of 2009 were 3,173,917 persons, but the population census 2010 revealed a lower population number (2,773,479). Estimation of expatriates was 577,293 in 2009, which in the census has risen to 816,143 in 2010. Furthermore, many studies were only available in Arabic language, whereby it was only possible to a certain extent to translate the figures and statistics.

2.3.3 Analytical framework

The analysis is based on situational analysis, whereby processes are identified and an attempt to understand the status, conditions, trends and key issues affecting people in a given geographical context is undertaken. Within situational analysis, most attention has been paid to storytelling. The way of data collection was mostly based on conversation, interviews and life histories. By choosing this method, new and unanticipated aspects can be revealed; it allows deeper insights into relationships and processes.

In the research, students come from several places. To categorize the places, a slightly unusual approach is taken. Unfortunately, there are no detailed statistics per place, since the lowest administrative level of statistics is the wilayat. This is not detailed enough to base an analysis on population density or detailed population size. Therefore, the classification will be done on population size of the wilayats within the region. For example, in the Adh Dhahirah Region, the wilayat Ibri is by far the biggest one (76.7% of the population in the Adh Dhahirah Region lives in that wilayat). Therefore, Ibri is suburban and the other places are considered as more rural. Muscat is considered as the urban part. For the other regions, the suburban places are as follows: Qurayyat (Muscat Governorate), Sohar (Al Batinah), Khasab (Musandam), Ibri (Adh

Dhahirah), Nizwa (Adh Dakhiliyah), Sur (Ash Sharqiyah), Mahawt (Al Wusta) and Salalah (Dhofar). The distinction is somewhat arbitrary but the only possibility of making a classification. The city Khasab in Musandam is more 'rural' than for example the city of Bidbid, while in this division it is the other way around. Nevertheless, such a distinction is not possible and is more based on perception than on facts. Important to note is that the population distribution in Oman is based on the harsh conditions of the country - the lack of water resources, the poor soils, the harsh environment and the limited opportunities restricted population distribution and encouraged the tendency to concentrate on favourable sites on the coast or inland. If this distinction is not made, every wilayat can be considered as urban, since they all consists of more than 2,500 people (the criterion of Oman for urban). The importance of this classification is to see to what extent primacy exists and what the division is of the respondents with regard to urban, sub-urban and rural.

To analysis the data, the programme MAXQDA will be used. Codes to gather information are for example future, characteristics, relatives, travel, identity, visits, migration, thresholds, policies, interactions, impact, educational migration, reasons etcetera. Some categories overlap. To measure home, the fragments under relatives, visits, reasons, impact, interactions and identity are covered.

2.4 Biases and Limitations of the Research

There was a considerable time constrain for the research. Only three and a half months were available to search for respondents, to speak to them and creating a report for the organization. Next to it, in most cases, the level of English was low, whereby sometimes some questions had to be translated to very simplified English, thereby losing some nuances and room for interpretation.

Furthermore, statistics are hard to trace since Oman does not know a door-to-door postal system. If people have to register an address with a postal box, this is usually the postal box of the company one works in (or where a family member works). It is possible that students give the P.O. Box of the work of a family member in Muscat, while living somewhere else, since there are no other possibilities to receive post. Therefore, statistics are also difficult to trace. Furthermore, both universities did not want to give access to their student administration due to privacy reasons.

Another limitation is availability of studies in Oman and ministerial sources in English language. Most of these studies are only available Arabic. Even with help of translators and Google Translate, it is difficult to access these sources.

It is important to note that only student population has been researched. It is difficult to say if these patterns of sense of home, place attachment and family ties in combination with their spatial mobility pattern are similar for employees and employers. Therefore, this research is a first step towards an extended research on this issue.

3. Regional Framework

The official name of Oman is the Sultanate of Oman. Oman is a country in Southwest Asia, on the south-eastern part of the Arabian Peninsula, astride the Tropic of Cancer (map 1). It is bordered on the west by the United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia, on the south by Yemen and on the east by the Indian Ocean. It covers 309,500 square kilometres. The official language is Arabic and the second language is English (CIA Factbook, 2011; Verlinden, 2000).

3.1 History

The history of present Oman begins in 1970, after a coup which

send Sultan Said bin Taimur into exile. Till 1970 there was no development of infrastructure, education, health care, phone network, television station, libraries etcetera (Miriam, 1995; Verlinden, 2000; Valeri, 2009). His successor, current sultan bin Qaboos, tried to modernize Oman's economy and undertook social, educational and cultural reforms by using resources available. The Sultan imposed its legitimacy above other legitimacies (tribal, Ibadism etcetera) (Valeri, 2009; Miriam, 1995; Lefebvre, 2009).

3.2 Physical Geography

Morphologically, the area is composed of a number main landforms and climatic characteristics that affected each of the urban expanding and urban orientation. Because of the physical geography, the spread of the population in Oman is reduced to selected areas where there is often a source of water (Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010):

- The coastline plain: It extends along the study area coastline (100 km) from A'Seeb at the north to Al-Bustan at south; as the plain has a very flat surface, availability of underground water, and fishing it becomes the main area of urban expanding.
- Mountain area: Mountains consist most of Muscat areas, they run as one chain in a longitudinal wide arc from north-west to south-east. No urban blocks can be found here.
- Valleys: A number of wadis come from the mountain area and runs towards the sea.
- Sand dunes: The sand formation covers an area east of Busher. Most of the urban cover the area around sand dunes (Al-Awadi, 2008; Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010).

Villages can be divided into different groups. There are rural communities that depend on stable water spring and wells, which represent rural communities in the plains of Al Batinah, Muscat and Salalah. Next to it, there are villages in the oases and mountainous interior in Adh Dhahirah and the East. Furthermore, there are Bedouin populations in the desert areas (although their numbers are shrinking continuously) (Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010).



Source: Grolier Interactive. 2002.

3.3 Political division

Oman is an Islamic absolute monarchy. On paper, Sultan Qaboos has created the structure of a constitutional monarchy, but real political power still resides with him rather than with a prime minister. The Sultan is both Chief of State and Head of Government and acts as prime minister, defence minister and foreign minister. There is a cabinet and an elected advisory council. Policy formulation remains largely the product of person-to-person negotiations between the Sultan and individual ministers (Nowell, 2009; CIA Factbook, 2011; Lefebvre, 2009).

Box 2: The Arab Spring

The Arab Spring is a term for the democratic uprisings which arose independently and spread across the Arab world. In Oman, the first protests started at the 17th of January, 2011, whereby 200 protesters marched demanding salary increases and lower costs of living. As a response, the government increased the minimum wage in the private sector and reshuffled the cabinet. Nevertheless, on the 27th of February, protesters returned in Sohar, burned a hypermarket in Sohar and due to rubber bullets two protestors were killed. In response, Sultan Qaboos created 50,000 government jobs and provided a monthly benefit to the unemployed. On the 1st of March, a rally was organized in Muscat to show support for the Sultan and his government. On the 7th of March, Sultan Qaboos abolished the Ministry of National Economy. The protests in Sohar have ended in April, but there are still protests in Salalah (2011 Omani Protests, 2011).

There are five regions and four governorates (table 1 and map 2). These regions comprises of wilayats (municipalities). Within the Muscat Governorate, there are six wilayats: Muscat, A'Seeb, Bawsher, Muttrah, Al-Amrat and Qurayyat. Muscat as a city includes Muscat, A'Seeb, Bawsher and Muttrah. Each wilayat has a small town with the same name, in addition to a host of urban settlements that are scattered in between but connected with each other. Within these wilayats, there is a division of niyabats (Nowell, 2009, Al-Awadi, 2008; Al-Gharabi, 2010; Oman Census, 2010).



Source: Maps of the World, 2011

Regions	Main Place	Area km²	Population	Population density (pop/km²)	Wilayats
Adh Dakhiliyah	Nizwa	31,900	326,651	10.2	8
Adh Dhahirah	Ibri	37,000	151,664	4.1	3
Al Batinah	Sohar	12,500	772,590	61.8	13
Al Wusta	Haima/Hayma	79,700	42,111	0.5	4
Ash Sharqiyah	Sur	36,800	350,514	9.5	11

Table 1: Regions and governorates of Oman

Governorates	Main Village	Area km²	Population	Population density	Wilayats
Al Burimi	Al Burimi	7,000	72,917	10.4	3
Dhofar	Salalah	99,300	249,729	2.5	10
Musandam	Khasab	1,800	31,425	17.5	4
Muscat	Seeb	3,500	775,878	221.7	6

Source: Oman Census, 2010

3.4 Population and economy

Oman has a population of 2,694,094¹ (2010), which includes 742,994 (27.6%) nonnationals/expatriates (Verlinden, 2000; CIA Factbook, 2011; Ministry of National Economy, 2009; Oman Census, 2010). The population of Oman rose from 1.2 million in 1980 to 2.7 millions in 2010. It is expected to increase to 4.9 millions in 2050. The population pyramid of Oman looks different for the nationals compared to the expatriates (figure 4).



Source: Ministry of National Economy, 2009

As can be seen in figure 4, the population pyramid of Omani's is typical for a country in transition, with a huge population under 25 years (1,236,093 of 1,957,336), but a decreasing population in the age categories below 10 years. The expat population reflects the typical circumstances of such a population group: an overrepresentation of men in the age category between 20 and 50 years old.

¹ Population estimates of 2009 were 3,173,917 persons, but the population census 2010 revealed a lower population number. Estimation of expatriates was 577,293 in 2009, which in the census has risen to 742,994.

Table 2: Population figures

inhabitants

Population (2010)	Population growth rate (2011)	Median age (2010)	Life expectancy (2011)	Urbanization (2010)	Net immigration (2010)
2,694,094	2.023%	23.9 years	74.2 years	2% per year	-0.48 per 1000 inhabitants
Fertility rate Birth rate (2010) Death rate (2010) Infant mortality rate Under-5 mortality rate					
(2010) 2.87 per 100	0 23.9 per 10	00 3.47 per 100) inhabitants	(2011) 15.47 per 1000	(2005) 17 per 1000 inhabitants

inhabitants

Source: CIA Factbook, 2011; Ministry of National Economy, 2009; Census, 2010

inhabitants

As can be seen in table 2, the median age is 23.9 years, which is caused by the huge population under 25 years. In Oman, there is a gradually change of family structure. Most families included cousins, aunts, uncles, parents and children (extended family), all living under one roof. However, more and more families consist of nuclear families. The average local family structure in Oman 7.5 persons in 2010, declined from 9.0 persons in 2003 (Oman Census, 2010; Al-Gharabi, 2010).

The population of Oman has developed in different paces through history. Based on Abdul Hamid Laithi et al, 2010, at least three phases can be detected to describe the last 60 years:

- A first phase from 1950 to 1970. Before 1970, population growth was characterized as slow, or even stagnant. Living standards were low, with poor nutritional and health conditions, political disintegration and tribal conflict, increasing mortality rates (sometimes even higher than birth rates) and poor social and economic circumstances. Population growth was further reduced by the considerable out-migration of Omanis to eastern Africa (especially the former colony Zanzibar), South East Asia and some Gulf countries, in search of better living conditions and economic opportunities.
- A second phase lasted from 1970 until the early 1990s. The population grew from 565,000 people in 1965 to two million people in 1990, which means that the population almost quadrupled in size within 25 years. During these years, the oil economy expanded rapidly, causing drastic economic and social changes, including increased employment and education opportunities and rising standards of living. As a result, the country experienced high return migration of Omanis abroad, high rates of fertility and natural increase (between 30% and 40%) and a significant rise in the number of expatriate labour force during that period, whose numbers rose to 465.000 people in 1992.
- A third phase started around 1993. From 1993, annual growth rate was around 1.5%, compared to 6.9% in the period 1985-1990. Economic and social circumstances, as well as cultural-religious norms and values continued to change rapidly. For example, women married at a later age thanks to rising participation of females in education and employment, resulting in a declining birth rate. In addition, the massive in-migration of the expatriate labour force has been tempered due to the Omanization policy.

3.4.1. Society and Tribes

Oman has traditionally been a tribal society and despite strong efforts of national identity building, people tend to have strong linkages to their tribe, and consequently the region the tribe originates from. According to Stöckli (2008), tribes in Oman were once explicitly connected to specific areas, leading to distinct traditions and customs among them. Since mobility was restricted in pre-modern society, tribes were usually relatively fixed in space. Even nowadays, many villages consist of one or two dominant tribes. The tribes of Omani can be divided into six categories:

- Inhabitants of the coast areas of Muscat, Muttrah, Sur and Sohar;
- Inhabitants of al-Batinah coast;
- Occupants in Nizwa and Rustaq;
- Bedouins in the deserts;
- People from Shihuh tribe in Musandam peninsula;
- Inhabitants from Dhofar.

In general, it can be said that people feel proud about their tribe and they usually express strong feelings towards their tribal background. Tribal influence is inherent in many daily activities, perception and behaviour. On a social level, tribes play an essential role for peoples' identity and place attachment. Nevertheless, although people express strong feelings towards their tribal background, the new generation considers the tribe or the village as less important in identifying who is a member of another group than the regional centre in which the latter studied or trained. New regional identities have emerged all over the country (Valeri, 2009).

3.4.2 Education

Today there are over 1000 state schools and about 530,000 students. Primary school lasts six years and ends with examinations in Arabic language, religion, English, sciences, mathematics and social sciences. Girls are also taught domestic science, including cooking and embroidery courses. The secondary school is divided into arts and science sectors, which after three years leads to a certificate. Places at government schools and university are reserved for Omani (Valeri, 2009).

Tuble by only elbhilds and coneges of onla			
Regions	Number of colleges		
	and universities		
Adh Dakhiliyah	1 (Nizwa Uni.)		
Adh Dhahirah			
Al Batinah	2 (Sur Uni.)		
Al Wusta			
Ash Sharqiyah	2*		
Al Burimi	1		
Dhofar	1 (Dhofar Uni.)		
Musandam			
Muscat	14*		

an
ć

* One college has departments in Sur and Muscat. Source: Oman Universities, 2011 In 1986, Oman's first university, Sultan Qaboos University, opened. Oman has 21 universities and colleges (table 3). Except Sultan Qaboos University in Muscat, all the other universities are (public-)private universities. Many universities have a link with a partner university in either Great-Britain or in the USA. Most research conducted in Oman has been done at the behest of the government; agriculture, minerals, water resources, and marine sciences have drawn the most attention (CIA Factbook, 2011; Ministry of National Economy, 2009; Oman Universities, 2011).

3.4.3 Economy

Sources of income in the economy are oil, agriculture and industry. The modernization programme of the past four decades has been fuelled largely by its oil revenues. The revenue generated by the sultanate's oil and natural gas resources accounts for 48 percent of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), 79 percent of export earnings and 78 percent of government revenues in 2010. This heavily dependence on (predominately) main source of revenue, an active population mainly employed by the state and no direct taxation makes Oman a rentier state (Valeri, 2009). Diversification is seen as a priority in the government of Oman to decline the dependence on oil. These priorities are stated in development plans, so-called Five-Year plans. The recent (eight) Five-Year Development Plan (2010 - 2015) aims to achieve real GDP growth of three per cent annually and keep inflation under control. The development schemes target massive investments, boost export diversification, creating jobs for Omanis (Omanization), developing agriculture and other non-oil sectors and intensifying efforts to develop small and medium enterprises (CIA Factbook, 2011; Ministry of Information, 2011; Zawya, 2011).

3.5 Urbanization

Urbanization reflects an increasing proportion of the population living in settlements defined as urban. The level of urbanization is the percentage of the total population living in towns and cities while the rate of urbanization is the rate at which it grows (UNFPA, 2007). Although urban growth is mainly seen as the result of rural-urban migration, natural increase is usually the primary reason for urban growth, which is usually fast when economic growth is high (Tacoli, 1998).

Although the urbanization process is not new or alien to Omani society because of a (forced) concentration tendency of population in larger settlements due to limited favourable sites, the nature and degree of growth has changed rapidly in the past three decades. Today, while Muscat governorate only covers 1.3% of Oman's territory, it comprises 27.6% of the population, resulting in a high density of 221.7 people per square km (Oman Census, 2010).

Table 4 provides an overview of the urbanization rates of periods of 8-10 years from 1957 until 2003. Whereas urban growth did not exceed 5% in the first two periods (1957-1965 and 1965-1975), it reached 12.7 percent in the period 1975-1985. In comparison, during that latter

Years	Urban growth rate			
1957-1965 (8 yrs)	3.6%			
1965-1975 (10 yrs)	4.3%			
1975-1985 (10 yrs)	12.7%			
1985-1993 (8 yrs)	24%			
1993-2003 (10 yrs)	15.7%			

Table 4: Urbanization rates in Oman, 1957-2003

period, other Gulf States only reached 7.1%. The urbanization rate peaked to 24% for the period 1985-1993, after which it declined to a rate of 15.7% for 1993-2003. These trends corroborate with the general population growth trends in the country, confirming that the population growth was largely accommodated in urban areas.

Source: Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010

In addition to observing urban growth rates, the level of urbanization in Oman further sheds light on the dimensions of urbanization in the country. Figure 5 shows that the level of urbanization increased from 11% in 1970 to 84% in 2009 (ESCWA, 2009; Al-Gharabi, 2010).



Source: Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010

Factors which have contributed to urbanization in Oman are:

- High rates of natural increase of population. Population growth in Oman was particularly high during the oil boom that characterized the last decades of the 20th century (El-Arifi, 1968; Malecki & Ewers, 2007).
- Increasing migration streams.
- Horizontal expansion of cities: urban development projects have led to the demolition of many old neighbourhoods and the incorporation of surrounding villages.
- Economic growth: economic growth, mainly caused by oil revenues, has increased the investments which were attracted to cities, and created more employment. Furthermore, the concentration of investments in certain areas, especially in social service sectors, is pushing the population in rural areas to migrate to cities (Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010). Government policies in the past have further fuelled these processes by investing and developing in particular the urban areas, causing an urban bias in government expenditure: In the first three Five-Year National Development Plans (spanning the years 1976-1990), more than 60% of the government investments went to the Batinah region and Muscat governorate.

The main city responsible for urbanisation is Muscat. Muscat is a primate city in all its facets, as well as in population as political and economical. In table 5, it can be seen that population-wise Muscat is a real primate city, having a population almost four times as high as the next city.

Tabl	e 5: Prii	nacy

Rank	City	Size	The ideal ratio to the first city	The current ratio to the first city
1	Muscat	672,567		
2	Salalah	172,570	50%	25.66%
3	Sohar	140,006	33%	20.82%
4	Ibri	116,416	25%	17.31%
5	As Suwayhah	111,711	20%	16.61%

Source: Census, 2010

3.6 Internal migration

Internal migration is the migration within a country, either rural to urban, rural to rural, urban to rural or urban to urban. Internal migration is one of the influencing factors on urbanization, next to international migration and natural growth. Despite an overwhelming attention to the study of international migration in recent years, internal migration has not been a prime focus, although its scale, direction and demographic characteristics are fundamental to understanding urbanization (Tacoli, 1998). Flows of people are expressed in different ways - it includes people moving between rural and urban settlements, either commuting on a regular basis, for occasional visits to urban-based services, or migrating temporarily or permanently.

Internal migration has been happening in Oman at a large timescale. However, the form of rural-urban migration became more significant from the 1970s onwards, triggered by rapid economic development. As a consequence of bureaucratization of jobs and changing ways of life, post-1970 Oman has been characterized by internal migration on an unknown scale. Moving out of the community area was reserved in former times to people with intermediate power (walis, sheikhs), but it suddenly extended to all social strata. Recruitment for jobs, by government departments at a national level, led individuals to start a family away from their tribe (Valeri, 2009). Furthermore, the migration was facilitated by improved infrastructure and mobility.

Opportunities of employment where especially found in Muscat, which made the city attractive to migrants. As mentioned before, this was caused by the investment bias of the government to Muscat. Furthermore, in the capital area more employment was available for specific jobs, such as engineering, meteorology or computer sciences. Because of this bias and the attractiveness of the city, people left to look for opportunities in the capital area (Hoek, 1998).

The migration pattern that developed can arguably be seen as temporary or cyclical: while many migrants in Oman work and live in the urban areas during weekdays; they return to their families in the home town, oases or farms in the weekends. This pattern of cyclical movement has intervals ranging from once a week to once a month, or less frequent (Hoek, 1998). During work days, they keep close contacts with their families through modern means of communication (Al-Harthy, 2011).

Recent data on the scope of internal migration are not available; however it was found that between 1993 and 2003, 73,418 people migrated internally, with the governorate of Muscat as the main receiving area (44.072 or 60%). A total of 10.384 people out-migrated from Muscat, leaving a surplus of 33,688 people (table 6). Males account for the largest number (41.501, 56.6%) of migrants. The majority of migrants are between 18 and 35 years old. Elderly migrants (60 years old and above) do not represent a large volume: elderly tend to retire in their place of origin (table 7). Most emigrants have also enjoyed education, albeit of modest level (preparatory or secondary school) (table 8) (Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010).

	Current place of residence								
Place of former				Adh	Adh	Ash			Total
residence	Muscat	Al Batina h	Musandam	Dhahirah	Dakhiliyah	Sharqiyah	Al Wusta	Dhofar	emigrants
Muscat		3,45	198	998	2,084	2,658	161	835	10,384
Al Batinah	15,139		257	2,565	999	842	139	1,056	20,997
Musandam	495	184		26	33	10	0	35	883
Adh Dhahirah	4,381	94	68		959	441	57	560	7,41
Adh Dakhiliyah	10,595	903	44	1,801		982	219	404	14,948
Ash Sharqiyah	10,048	790	56	1,321	859		303	438	13,815
Al Wusta	59	21	0	8	52	100		38	278
Dhofar	3,355	409	15	373	260	277	14		
Total									
immigrants	44,072	6,801	638	7,092	5,246	5,31	893	3,366	73,418

Table 6: Internal migration 1993-2003 between regions and governorates of Oman

Source: Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010

Table 7: Division of internal migrants by age and sex (%), 2003

Age Group	Male	Female	Total
0-4	1.3	1.2	2.5
5-9	3.5	3	6.5
10 to 14	4	3.8	7.8
15-19	8.7	6.8	15.5
20-24	17.8	15.4	33.3
25-29	9.4	6.7	16.1
30-34	4.4	2.6	7
35-39	2.9	1.4	4.3
40-44	1.9	0.7	2.6
45-49	1	0.4	1.4
50-54	0.7	0.4	1
55-59	0.3	0.2	0.6
60-64	0.3	0.2	0.5
65+	0.4	0.5	0.8
Total	56.5	43.5	100

Table 8: Internal migrants' level of education, Oman, 2003

Omani (%)	Migrants (%)
22	4.6
10.6	9.8
15.5	16.2
21.8	9.5
22.4	46.1
3.2	5.1
3.9	8
0.3	0.6
0.5	0.1
0.3	
100	100
	22 10.6 15.5 21.8 22.4 3.2 3.9 0.3 0.5 0.3

Source: Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010

Source: Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010

Internal migration has different effects on the population structure. There are changes in population sizes in certain areas. Due to migration, population pressure can increase and can lead to higher prices of goods and services (Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010; Al-Harthy, 2011). There are increasing crime rates and there is an increasing pressure on the security services in the areas of non-criminal services, such as traffic, civil defence, coast guards, ambulance services etcetera. Furthermore, there is a high need to increase police forces (Abdul Hamid Laithi et al., 2010; Al-Harthy, 2011).

There are also population structure effects in the place of origin. Foreign labour increasingly takes up work such as agricultural labour, cultivation of dates, craft work and services, which locals used to do (Hoek, 1998). Furthermore, the absence of a large number of (male) people affects daily life. During weekdays the society is dominated by women, elderly men and children. Women and older men mainly fulfil the daily work in the house etcetera (Hoek, 1998). The place of the husband can be taken by someone else, which creates a gap between the men and his family. On the other side, in the city, men can behave like a bachelor and share an apartment and rooms together. Although not common, there are some stories about men having a wife in the city and a wife in the village (Al-Harthy, 2011).
4. Students' stories

The tertiary Omani students from Sultan Qaboos University and the German University of Technology in Muscat can be roughly divided into two kinds, based on their place of origin: either they are from outside Muscat (city) or from Muscat itself. Every student tells his or her story, on home, family, place attachment, spatial mobility, aspirations and future, whereby every story is unique. Nevertheless, some general answers can be drawn from the different stories. It is important to note that answers are not necessarily based on the truth, but on perception. The students are asked about their feelings towards certain things, about their perception of certain things and on their own stories. All the stories are therefore coloured in some way.

At first, the students of whom their place of origin is not Muscat ('outside' students) will be discussed, whereby they are categorized by degree of attachment to their place of origin. Second, students of which Muscat is place of residence and their place of origin ('inside' students) will be discussed. The reason for this focus on two different kinds of students, outside and inside, is to see if the absence of home really creates home, to see what the differences and similarities are between the two different kinds and if there are differences in their future perspectives and aspirations. To what extent do they differ? Do they have different travelling and visiting patterns? Do they have different identities, different influences of family and different thoughts on their future aspirations? What is the influence of family, gender roles, sense of home on the students? Where it is valid, either geographical, gender or family history differences will be addressed. After discussing the stories of students, there is attention towards the future perspectives of the students. At the end of the chapter, there is a short analysis of the influences of all these factors on the rural-urban interactions.

4.1 Characteristics sample population

In total, 68 students were interviewed from two universities – Oman's state university, Sultan Qaboos University (SQU), and a private university, the German University of Technology in Oman (GUtech). Both universities are based in Muscat. Out of 68 respondents, 39 studied at SQU and 29 studied at GUtech. Of the 68 students, 37 were male and 31 were female students, with an age ranging between 18 and 28 years. For students with a different place of origin than Muscat ('outside' students), the gender division was 16 females and 32 males. For the students of which Muscat was the place of origin ('inside' students), this division was 15 females and 5 males. The study background of 37 of 39 students at SQU was tourism (14), English language (14), engineering (5), technology (3) and mathematics (1) (appendix 2). These people happened to be around in the student common room. It is a convenient sample.

Seventy percent of the GUtech students interviewed grew up in Muscat and 60% of them indicated that they only visited the place where relatives resided or the place of their family ancestry on special occasions, such as family gatherings or national and religious holidays. Forty percent of the GUtech students who grew up in Muscat did not even go to the place of family ancestry anymore, either because nobody of the family is living there anymore or because of

gender differences - male family members would go there on Eid, while females stay in Muscat. This is part of the traditional customs. It can therefore be said that for most of the GUtech students, their place of origin coincides with their place of residence (and study). This is in contrast to SQU students, of which all 39 respondents said to be from outside of Muscat and the majority of their relatives being in the region of origin. While all the 'outside' students lived in Muscat during the week, all of them went back at least once a month. Around 97% of the SQU students even went back to the place of origin every weekend, exceptions made when students had to study for a test.

This pattern of going back in the weekends is, as seen in the regional part, not exclusive to students in Oman. Confirmed by the staff spoken to at the different universities and other employees, a considerable part of the Omani population has a 'multi-spatial way of life', in particular those that reside in the urban areas, notably Muscat, during the week, while travelling back to their home towns and farms for the weekend. Hence, student behaviour seems to confirm that internal migration in Oman is largely based on a pattern that can arguably be characterized as temporary or cyclical migration with weekly to monthly intervals. Furthermore, the tendency to move (circular) is not unknown to Oman. The population of Oman was a nomadic population – therefore the idea of movement is not unfamiliar to people. The migration is facilitated because of good infrastructure. During the week, they keep close contacts with their families through modern means of communication:

"I keep contact with my family during the week by phone and chat. This is because of emergencies, but also because I miss them and I like to talk to them often." SQU male student, Ash Sharqiyah

"All of my relatives live in the origin village. I need to stay in contact with his family by phone, because I am the oldest son and my father passed away." SQU male student, 19 years, Sohar (nearby village).

Another interesting outcome is that 6 out of 10 students, of which Muscat is not the place of origin, have a large household. A family whereby the students have six or more siblings is not uncommon. As a respondent stated:

"I have 6 brothers and 6 sisters: 4 of the girls are married but still live near Izki and one brother is married, but also lives near Izki" SQU male student, 23 years, Izki

Table 9: Places of origin

Regions	Respondents
Adh Dakhiliyah	
Nizwa (suburban)	3
Bahla	3
Izki	2
Adam	1
Bidbid	1
Fanja	2
Unknown	1
Adh Dhahirah	
Ibri (suburban)	6
Yanqul	1
Al Batinah	
Al Musanaah	2
Ar Rustaq	2
Sohar (suburban)	3
Falaj Al Qabail	3
Liwa	1
Shinas	2
Ash Shuwayhah*	1
Unknown	8
Al Wusta	0
Ash Sharqiyah	
Shiya	1
Midayfa	1
Unknown	1
Dhofar	0
Musandam	
Khasab (suburban)	1
Muscat Governorate	
Muscat (urban)	21
Quriyyat (suburban)	1

Table 10: Regions and governorates respondents

Regions	GUtech	SQU	Total
Adh Dakhiliyah	4	9	13
Adh Dhahirah	1	6	7
Al Batinah	3	19	22
Al Wusta	0	0	0
Ash Sharqiyah	0	3	3
Dhofar	0	0	0
Musandam	0	1	1
Muscat	21	1	22
Governorate			
Total	29	39	68

As mentioned before, the place of origin of the students differs between the two universities (table 10). Interesting to see is that there is a clear difference between the students population of SQU, which as a state university appears to attract students from different regions of Oman, whereas GUtech as private university serves a more local market. It can be seen in table 9, that the influence of suburban places is limited in the more populated regions. The regions Adh Dakhiliyah and Al Batinah are the second and third most populated region (Muscat governorate ranges first), and in these regions the students are more widely spread. On the other hand, in the Adh Dhahirah region (which only compromises of three wilayats), the differences between suburban and rural are more clear.

* Official part of a new region since 2008 ** Not all students have indicated their

Map 3: Regional division



Source: Google Maps

• = 1 respondent

A bigger size is included in appendix 3

As can be seen on map 3 and table 9, the students come from a reasonable distance from Muscat, and live mainly along the main roads. This is partly the results of the distributions of villages and cities in Oman. As mentioned before, the harsh environment and climate of Oman force people to live close to each other. In the less-populated regions, such as Adh Dhahirah (76.7% of the population in that region lives in Ibri) there is a strong influence of the suburban city on the residence patterns. Also interesting to see is that families, of which Muscat is not their place of origin, live either nearby or in a smaller city in Oman. This is because of the accessibility of services, hospitals, roads etcetera. Students, who do live in a small village, live most of the time nearby a wadi (water system) and the main roads to ensure that the most services are within reach, as stated by the following student:

"My village is approximately 20 kilometers from the city of Sohar - we can therefore easily reach the services of Sohar." SQU male student, 21 years.

4.1.1 Universities

The German University of Technology (GUtech) is a private university and has a tuition fee of RO 2,400 (\in 4,400) per year. The university offers four different (internationally credit) bachelor programmes. It does not offer master programmes. In 2011, there were around 200 students studying in the different departments. The university does not offer student accommodation (GUtech, 2010). The most common reason of students to choose for GUtech are the international credits the bachelor programmes receive and the chance to have a good education in Oman, without having to go abroad for the same level of education.

The Sultan Qaboos University is the only full state university (other universities are either private or public-private partnerships) and there are no tuition fee for bachelor students. They offer 70 different bachelor programmes in nine different colleges. They also offer different master programmes, of which a tuition fee needs to be paid (which differs per programme). In 2008 – 2009, there were 14,722 bachelor students, of which 7,180 female and 7,542 male and 350 master students. SQU offers accommodation for females on campus, and distributes pocket money of RO 120 (€220) for males. To register at SQU, students should obtain 90% or more in their secondary school certificate (SQU, 2011). SQU is seen as the best university. As illustrated in the regional framework, the possibilities for tertiary education (and especially public education) in Oman are scarce. Therefore, the students almost have to migrate to Muscat for tertiary migration.

4.2 The 'outside' student

As could be seen in the table, 47 out of 68 of the students come from outside the city of Muscat. This means that they are not born in Muscat and until their tertiary education have never lived in Muscat before. One quarter of these students have at least one male relative living in Muscat, for example an uncle, nephew or their father:

"I go home every weekend. My father works in Ruwi, Muscat, but we go back separately and we live separately from each other." SQU male student, 22 years, Al Batinah.

4.2.1 Travelling and visits

The average travel distance from Muscat to the place of origin of the respondents is 200 km, which takes them on average 1.5 hours. For most of the villages and towns outside the Muscat area, students assess the transport infrastructure connection with Muscat as adequate. The majority of students travel either by private vehicle, or they share a car with family members or friends who travel back to the same home area. Others use public transport – buses, shared taxi, but students felt that it is a less reliable source of transport since they do not run on a regular schedule. For example, one respondent indicated that:

"The bus to Quriyyat leaves at 6 pm, while lectures are already over at 2 pm on Wednesdays, which means I have to wait a long time to get home for the weekend." SQU male student, 18 years, Quriyyat.

Whereas infrastructure and modes of transport do not seem to limit students in their travel behaviour, there appears to be a relationship between distance (kilometres) and the frequency (amounts of visits per month) of travelling back to the place of origin. Not surprisingly, it was found that the further the distance between the place of origin and the place of study, the less inclined respondents are to travel. None of the respondents was for example from Al Wusta region, a remote area in the South of Oman. One respondent from Musandam – an Omani enclave North of the United Arab Emirates - explained too that she only returns once a month or once every two months, because 'the distance is too far to bridge it more often for just a weekend'. Important in here is that relative and absolute time can differ because of the crossing of borders and bad infrastructure in the hinterlands (dirt roads, need for an own 4WD etcetera). The majority of students come from regions adjacent to Muscat governorate, especially the Al Batinah region, which is also one of the most populated areas of the country, together with Muscat governorate itself. These students go home every weekend.

4.2.2 Home and place attachment

As mentioned before, almost all students go back in the weekend. Increasingly important for them are the family relations in the place of origin. Therefore, they go back to visit their family and friends (social attachment). In Omani culture, social contacts and social interactions are highly valued.

"I go back every weekend, except when I have to study for a test. My whole family lives in Izki, and I just like to see them every weekend." SQU male student, 20 years, Izki.

"I miss my family and friends while I am busy studying. I have to go back every weekend to see them." SQU female student, Al Batinah

Furthermore, 80% of the respondents stated that they like to see the quiet and peaceful surroundings of their village. For these students, the place attachment is formed by as well as physical as social attachment. This physical attachment is mostly created by memories of the 'peaceful surrounding':

"My village is beautiful and peaceful. Furthermore, there is where my family lives and where my friends are. My whole childhood is there." SQU female student, Al Batinah

"Yanqul is peaceful, relaxing and all of my family and friends live there. I enjoy to do horse riding through the wadi and the surroundings, it relaxes me." SQU male student, 21 years, Yanqul.

The quotes of the students in the foregoing parts are quotes of students who belong to a first category of students with respect to the extent that students value their place of origin and to what extent they consider it as their home. The students of which the place of origin is outside Muscat do not have the same answers to the questions of if they consider their place of origin their home. This first category of students is those students who feel most at ease at their place of origin. Next to it, many of them do not feel at ease in Muscat in comparison to their place of origin. They account for 50% of the 'outside' students. One of the students said it straightforward:

"I feel like I am from my hometown, more than from Muscat." SQU male student, 22 years, Al Musanaah

Home is described by them as the place they feel at ease and where most of their relatives are. The students are mostly unmarried and have not start an own family yet. Therefore, their parents and family are the most important ones and also the ones who have stayed at 'home'. 'Home' is in their perception a place of family, where they can be themselves and where they feel at ease.

For respondents of the first category, the capital area is often more negatively perceived than the home town. Muscat is perceived to be very expensive and represents 'responsibilities and obligations' whereas the home town has more positive connotations such as 'simple lifestyle, 'quiet', 'family oriented' etc. Respondents recalled positive memories of their home town, feelings of nostalgia to the place they were born and spent their childhood. Also, it represents the place where their relatives are, the place of family life. Great value was attributed to the fact that in the home village, one is part of a family, whereas in Muscat everyone has its own, individual life. The following respondents endorse this statement:

"In Muscat you have to learn how to be responsible, in the hometown everything is prepared for you. Furthermore, life in a city can be crowded and hectic in comparison with the village." SQU male student, Falaj Al Qabail. "Here [Muscat], you are more independent. In the village, your parents would know everything. However, here you are also away from family which is very difficult." SQU female student, Ash Sharqiyah

In addition to the importance of family, some students were attracted to the home region as a means to 'escape' from the exhausting Muscat life. Muscat is associated with negative feelings of noise, traffic, crowdedness etc. 'Home' provides an escape to 'peacefulness', 'relaxation' and 'togetherness'. Nevertheless, the resources in the villages are limited, such as medical care, shops, communication, educational facilities etc. Although Muscat has more facilities, respondents do not miss such services in their home area. As one respondent mentioned, a large shopping centre in the home village 'wouldn't fit in':

"Muscat has a lot of facilities which you need, but in the village there is no need for those facilities. Furthermore, the government is providing more and more services in the villages." SQU female student, Khasab

"The village has also nicer weather. The weather in Muscat is much warmer than the weather of the village. Besides, it is nice to be together with the family. I do not really need the big malls of Muscat." GUtech male student, Adh Dhahirah.

"In Muscat, it seems a crowded city if you compare it to his hometown and people are a little bit different [negatively]."SQU male student, Ibri

The second category is students who, for different reasons, are beginning to feel at home in Muscat and feeling less attached to their place of origin. They are, however, a minority (around 10% of the respondents):

I feel like I belong more to Muscat than to my village. I miss my village, but my loyalty is more to Muscat." SQU male student, Falaj Al Qabail

I feel like I belong to Muscat, because I do not have any friends in my hometown. Some of my family is there, yes, but it is also nice to share things with friends. "SQU male student, Liwa

Some do not connect to memories or family while considering where they belong. For them, it has to do with the fact they feel more at ease in another city. As the following respondent illustrated:

"I feel that I belong more to Muscat. I am a Muscaty boy, I like fashion, styling and everything else Muscat has to offer." SQU male student, Shinas The third category is students who indicate to have difficulties with determining what they see as their 'home'. They have difficulties with the distinction of 'home' versus (temporary) 'place of residence' and whether they attach to Muscat or to their place of origin. They are around 40%. The home area and Muscat are clearly different, but they cannot state where they feel more attached to or where they feel at ease or at home. Some do not feel as if they belong somewhere at all, stating they could see themselves reside in either Muscat or the home area, or feeling to be 'in the middle'. They mostly have the social attachment to the place of origin created by family, but also see possibilities to start their own family, to attach to the surrounding of Muscat and making friends in Muscat.

"From the inside I am from Ibri, but from the outside I am looking 'Muscaty', which is confusing" SQU male student, Ibri.

"I do not feel as if I belong somewhere specific. I classify myself in both places; I can be a man in Muscat as well as in my hometown." SQU male student, Adam.

One of the students indicated that there are no differences between any Omani:

"Of course I am Omani, belong to Oman, but there is no difference between places in Oman except geological differences." SQU male student, BidBid

Next to place attachment, also the identity of students plays a part in the feeling of home. In the quotes on place attachment, it is already clear how people perceive home in some cases, mostly as a place of family and friends and where they feel at ease. A role is played by memories people have of the places (of origin and residence):

I am Bahla, I am proud of that identity. I am proud of the traditional villages, and the relaxed life-style. The city is very noisy. The valleys, the wadi, the traditional style of building are nice things. Even my grandparents are born in my village. I consider myself from the village; I feel more from that community. People also recognize that I am from the village. I am very proud that I am from that village." SQU female student, Bahla.

Furthermore, intentions to do certain things and feelings to want certain things can are part of identity. In paragraph 4.6, the influences of identity on individuals' beliefs on the self in the future are discussed.

4.2.3. Living in Muscat: sticking together with village members

The female students at SQU live on campus, whereas the male respondents live together in apartments near the university. Because of the high costs of living in Muscat, male students share a house and even a room. It was found that for students from outside Muscat, the house tends to be shared with fellow students from the same tribe or home region, or with relatives:

"In Muscat, females live at the SQU campus. The men most of the time live close by [campus], in the same neighbourhood (Al Khoud), or Al Seeb or Al Hail. Most of the men share their room in the apartment with friends from the same region, or family." SQU male student, 19 years, Nizwa.

Even in Muscat, students have stressed the relevance of friends and family in the place of residence:

"It would be better to have at least some family in Muscat, because otherwise you would feel so lonely. As Omani, you are very used to having big families (and having them around)." SQU male student, Adam

Due to this living together with people from the same areas, there is little interaction with other tribes. Also within the university, people tend to stick together. As in all countries, people from the same background have shared customs and dialects. Although there is little interaction, all students stress that the interaction with people from different regions and lifestyles in daily life helps them to be more outward looking and gives them new insights:

"The relationships within the village are more close to each other, but in Muscat you learn a lot from interacting with different regions, lifestyles etcetera." SQU female students, Khasab

A respondent noted that their place of residence in Muscat was not looked after very well. Respondents mentioned there was little attention to hygiene and health, quality of the residence, quality of the food, cleanliness and household chores. This may confirm the perception of their place of residence in Muscat as a temporary place, a functional place, but not a place where people attach to. In other cases, new household structures are created, for example by sharing costs and organizing care for the apartment:

"The rent is very expensive for a room, and therefore I share a room with my brother and cousin. In total 12 people live in the apartment, with 5 rooms. We hire an Indian guy for 21 rial per month to cook for us. We each give 10 rials per month for the house of which we buy shared things. If there is money left, we try to improve the apartment or hire a cleaner." SQU male student, Nizwa

4.2.4. Perceptions of change in the 'home' region

Due to being away from home and encountering different lifestyles and ideas, students note some changes in their home region. Students feel that gradually, ideas, values and norms deriving from the urban area are 'flowing' into their areas of origin. They perceive that especially change by and from young people are accepted. Examples include newly accepted urban forms of building style and furniture (such as having sofas in the house instead of being seated on the ground). Students also noted the changing employment structures in their home areas. In rural areas, jobs are available in e.g. agriculture and fisheries, left behind by people who migrated to the city searching for better employment. Nowadays, these positions are taken up by foreign labour. One of the respondents explained that his family now hires an Indian national to cultivate the dates on the farm, since no one of the family has time to do that anymore. Next to it, the disappearance of traditional clothing style, replaced by the 'urban' Abaya is a sign of changing ideas, values and norms in the home area.

Furthermore, the students indicated that Muscat has a major pull effect as regards employment opportunities. One of the respondents explained that nowadays, secondary (and primary) schools in the rural areas have difficulties attracting and retaining teachers. Students with an educational studies background said that they felt they could not develop themselves as teachers in schools outside Muscat or other major urban areas. Some students mentioned to have a commitment to improve education in their village, but these responses were infrequent.

Next to it, the observation of the improvement or decrease of quality and quantity of services was dependent on the perception of the student. The student from Musandam saw that the government was providing more and more services. The government has been investing in Musandam in recent years. Therefore, in Musandam, the services have improved a lot. However, another student mentioned that the services were declining in his village. It seems that the level of services is dependent on the investment strategies of the government and with what the students compare it with: the services in Muscat or what is needed and possible in the village.

It seems that for these students, being away from home causes the attachment to home. The things, places, activities and people associated with home become more apparent through their absence. Furthermore, through their absence, they can see what changes in their region.

4.3 The 'inside' student

Around 21 of the 68 students come from Muscat itself. They have not migrated from their place of origin to Muscat for tertiary education, but have been born in. This does not mean that their family did not migrate to Muscat in an earlier generation (two of the students were even from outside Oman). Out of those 21respondents, only 8 students said that Muscat was their place of origin, or the place 'where they come from'. For 13 other students, Muscat was not where their family originated from, but they felt they now belonged there, as the following statement illustrates:

"Although my family originally came from Al Ghafat (Bahla), I do not really have any connection with the family members over there anymore. The family who still lives there are the brothers of my grandparents. I feel more like I am from Muscat, since the connection to my grandparents' place of origin is weak." GUtech male student, Al Ghafat.

As mentioned before, 62% of the students that grew up in Muscat or had lived there for a considerable amount of time, still relate to the region where their parents or even grandparents have lived as the 'place they come from'. There is therefore a strong cultural attachment to the

family's (or tribe's) region of origin. As confirmed by Aziz (2011), the answers of the students are influenced by family. The answer given by students, although they might feel they belong to Muscat, is an automatic answer. For students, there are two levels of affiliation: tribe/family ancestry and individual. However, the links with the tribes become weaker per generation, as can be seen in the 8 students which responded that Muscat was their place of origin. Some of them do not even have family living there anymore, but still give the 'tribal' answer. This confirms the information given by Valeri (2009) that tribal identities are declining. Therefore, the affiliation level of the individual is becoming more important for the students:

"I come from Sega, but I do not live there anymore and nobody of my relatives still lives there." GUtech female student, Muscat.

4.3.1. Travelling and visits

Approximately 65% of the students still have some family members living in the area of origin, although these are mostly not first-line family members. The most common named family members are cousins of their father, grandparents and aunts. Female family members are named more often than male family members, since in most cases the male members work in Muscat (during the week), while the females stay in the place of origin. The amount of visits to the place of origin of their family members is limited to special occasions such as Eid-ul-Fitr. In some cases, only men will visit the place of origin of their family. For people without any living relatives there, there are no visits. Instead, these people will go for Dubai or other places to enjoy their weekends and holidays:

"We do not have any relatives living in Izki anymore, the region my family comes from. Instead, we go in some weekends to Dubai or Abu Dhabi." GUtech male student, Muscat

"When it is Eid, the male members of our family go back to Rustaq, where my family originally comes from. We stay at home with all the females." GUtech female student, Muscat

4.3.2. Home and place attachment

For all the students, their place of origin and their place of residence are the same: the city of Muscat. For all students, earlier generations have migrated to Muscat. This was mostly not because of education, but because of opportunities and the availability of employment.

It seems that they do not make a distinction between different kinds and grades of home. They see Muscat as their home, the place where they feel at ease. This does not mean, however, that the place their family originally comes from cannot be considered as a home as well. However, this degree of home and place attachment is much lower, and comes more from the influence of family and the fact that there is no real Muscat identity. The place attachment is therefore mainly cultural, a custom to relate to the place of origin of the tribal and family history. Since people have not grown up in the place of origin of their family, there is no physical attachment: *""I come from Izki, but I am born in Muscat and have lived there my whole life."* GUtech female student, Muscat

However, this physical attachment is included in the feeling of home in Muscat. The place attachment to Muscat is therefore strong and more fixed by physical and social attachment, but the place attachment to their family place of origin is more based on stories heard from their parents or grandparents. The students can describe what they think about Muscat, but they cannot describe what makes them Muscaty:

"I feel like I am from Muscat, but I cannot describe exactly why. I like the luxury and opportunities it offers." GUtech female student, Muscat

It is pretty unique to feel at home at several places. According to literature, people feel at home in one place, be it either their place of origin or their place of residence. On the other hand, there is also literature claiming that due to mobility, it is not possible to feel at home somewhere. However, the students claim they feel at home at both places, even though they have not been born there. It seems that the tribal structure of Oman still has considerable (but declining) influence on the cultural and social attachment to places. Furthermore, these students have not been away from home, and therefore it is more difficult for them to state what their home is and what makes Muscat unique for them.

The village is perceived negatively. Especially the respondents who grew up in Muscat said they 'could not live' in the countryside, but they do like to go (back) there to visit the village and the rest of their own country. This negative view is true for all 21 respondents, even the ones who relate to their families place of origin. The city is perceived as positive, since it has all the facilities they want, a good future perspective and their family is close by. For them, they have the same reasons to value the city positive as the 'outside' students do with their village:

"If I could get a job outside Muscat, I would only take it as a temporary job (for example five years). I am too active for the village: Muscat is where everything happens, so its better." GUtech male student, Bahla.

Nevertheless, around 35% of the 'inside' students can see the advantages of creating a less hectic lifestyle, but they would not even consider living in the villages.

4.3.3 Muscat: sticking together with tribal members

As with the 'outside' students, also these students tend to incline with the same tribe members. Tribe members are found by surnames. Even in schools and companies, this tends to happen. Also in university, these people tend to knit together. However, this process is not as strong as for the 'outside' students, who use it as a sort of buffer to cope with the city. There are a lot of interactions between people from different tribal backgrounds. Originally the city of Muscat belongs to the Baluchi tribe, who are still concentrated in the neighbourhood of Old Muscat and Muttrah.

4.4 Degree of migration and family network

There seems to be an intensifying relationship between the degree of attachment to the region of origin, the frequency of returning back for visits and the position the respondent takes up in the migrant history of the (extended) family. Students who are the first in their family to migrate to Muscat tend to go back more often and consider their place of origin as their home more often:

"My grandfather migrated to Rustaq from the village near the Wadi. I am the first one from my family to go to Muscat." SQU male student, 18 years, Rustaq

The more relatives reside outside the home region, especially in Muscat, the less place attachment and likeliness to return home there seems to be. Therefore, the number of relatives living in the city or in the village has an influence on this commuting. It appears that the 'weekly commute' to the home area declines in the second and third generation of migrants. As stated above, many students who lived all their lives in Muscat only go back to their place of family ancestry for holidays and family gatherings, but less frequent than first generation migrants:

"My parents go to their uncles once a month, but mostly I stay at home. I do not know many relatives living there." GUtech male student, Muscat (second generation)

"I never go to my families' place of origin, since I do not know anyone living there anymore. I believe some of my brothers of my grandfather are still living there, but I do not even know for sure." GUtech female student, Muscat (third generation)

Hence, it seems that while Muscat has traditionally been 'home' for just a few tribal groups, it now becomes the principal home for families who originally come from other regions of the country. As mentioned before, new 'Muscat families' emerge, that do not travel back to their villages and family farms but, as one respondent noted, go on a break in Dubai instead. These 'Muscat' families do not have any or a few relatives (second cousins, aunt) living outside Muscat. However, for first generation migrants who want to migrate to Muscat and stay there, the family and/or village members living in Muscat are of high importance. Without this network, the person is more likely to migrate back to the village, as is confirmed by the following statement:

"When I am finished, I want to go back to Ash Shuwayhah because I do not have any relative or friends here in Muscat." SQU female student, Ash Shuwayhah

The family migrant history affects feelings of place attachment and sense of belonging. Some families originating from regions elsewhere in the country migrated to Muscat in the 1970s, and have lived there ever since. The grandchildren or great-grandchildren no longer know their relatives in the home of origin, or will only visit for special occasions and holidays. This is known as generation wise migration. The migration mostly took place by stages from farther to nearer and nearer places (with increasing in population size) until the moves eventually end up in the Muscat: "All of my family lives in Ar Rustaq, because here you can find services, hospitals, roads etcetera. There are no relatives anymore in the Wadi where my parents used to live." GUtech male student, Ar Rustaq.

The migration history of a family does not really differ between various the students. As mentioned before, there seems to be a negative relationship between the strength of links with relatives living in the 'rural' and suburban areas and one's perception of it - students who do not have strong family connections and do not regularly visit the family's place of origin tend to have a more negative view of village life:

"When you live in the village, you are a farm boy, while in the city you are a metropolis guy." GUtech male student, Muscat

4.5 Future

The students who have a negative perception of Muscat and consider their place of origin as home ('first' category 'outside' students) indicate they will probably go back to their home area after graduation, because they have negative connotations with the 'Muscat way of life': they perceive the traffic to be noisy, the city to be busy and for most of them life is 'difficult' Most importantly is the proximity to parents and relatives in the home area. All students said they preferred to have their relatives close by. One of the respondents even taught the question was kind of silly:

"In the future, I will 'of course' go back." SQU female student, Al Batinah

"Even my grandparents have lived there. I feel a strong connection with my family. I am only in Muscat for my studies, after that I really want to go back to my village. I would even like to finish my study earlier so I can go back." SQU female student, Ash Sharqiyah.

It is interesting to observe here that gender has an effect on the degree of likeliness to migrate back after graduation. Male and female students have different future perspectives as regards place of residence or work. Women generally desire to return – for family and marriage reasons, while men were more concerned about where they would get a job and could work. Traditional, cultural and religious values and beliefs dominate to a great extent the student decision-making about future plans, in which women seek a more traditional caring role within a family setting whereas men tend to relate to their responsibilities to provide food and income to their families. Women are likely to marry males from the same village and tribe. Therefore, the first category 'outside' students has a higher female presence (80%), and the doubting category has a higher male presence (90%). The women return to the village to stay there, while men will proceed in the cyclical migration pattern. By staying connected to their village, men will still marry women of the same village (also caused by arranged marriages that are still very common). These men will still, however, live in Muscat during the week while the females will be in the place of origin:

"I am already married, and I will go back as soon as I finish my study to my family and start an own family with my husband. My husband and I were neighbours." SQU female student, Al Batinah

"I want to go back. I want to have a big family and live near my family. I want to marry a man from my own village." SQU female student, Al Batinah

"If I want to find a job – because I want to work when I finish my studies – I have to stay in Muscat. There are no possibilities in finding a job near my hometown." SQU male student, 22 years, Nizwa

Other students see a future for themselves in Muscat, because of better employment opportunities, and a higher level of services and amenities. It is possible that (male) students, who indicated to feel more at home in their place of origin, choose to stay in Muscat for employment. These are the students who say the advantages of employment and opportunities transcend the proximity of family (for 'outside' students). The opportunities Muscat offers for them are more important than closeness to their relatives. Furthermore, they can still hold on to their cyclical return pattern, as they do now:

"Muscat is better because here is where everything happens, here you can find everything, a good job environment. Here you can create a better short and long term future. Muscat is a city of opportunities, with many companies and ministries." GUtech male student, Muscat.

Students also mentioned the education of future children and better secondary working conditions compared in Muscat, in addition to the higher salaries that can be earned in Muscat in comparison to the place of origin of the 'outside' students. Some also said that in some fields of work, there are only job possibilities in Muscat. Especially tourism students believe that in order to find employment in the tourism industry, the opportunities were limited to the Muscat area:

"I think I will and have to work in Muscat, because here are the good hotels and most opportunities to get a job in the tourism branch." SQU male student, Ibri

Due to the preference of Muscat as 'employment city', there are some serious consequences for the regions. For example, secondary (and primary) schools 'outside' Muscat have difficulties to attract teachers. Most of the students in educational studies at SQU think they cannot develop themselves as teacher on secondary schools 'outside' Muscat (or other big cities). However, some have the drive to improve the education in their village, but they are rare.

Yet a different group has aspirations to reconcile living at 'home' in their area of origin while working where opportunities arise, particularly Muscat. Mechanisms to overcome the gap between these two places mentioned were for example to find temporary jobs or to find a job closer to the village. Students have to think of ways of 'getting a good job' while staying close to their family. To them, migration will continue to be a common feature of life: "I would like to see new places of Oman. Although I will miss my family, it would be nice to see more of the country." SQU male student, Nizwa

"My whole family lives there, but I do not yet know if I will stay in Muscat or will go back; it is difficult to see the future. I go there at least every Friday. My grandparents have been living in Nizwa as well." SQU male student, Nizwa

Concluding, there are three kind of different scenarios the students address. First, they go back home (mainly first category female 'outside' students). Second, they want to work closer to home, Sohar for example (mainly third category male 'outside' students). Third, they want to stay in Muscat (mainly second category male 'outside' students and 'inside' students). The 'inside' students do not consider leaving Muscat, which is true for both female and male. To the question if they would like to go to Sohar or other bigger settlements in Oman, all of them answer with a firm no and indicated that they want to stay in Muscat:

"Why would I go to Sohar when I am in Muscat? I think some Omanis will do that, but I will absolutely not do that." GUtech female student

"I would never go to Sohar, I just like Muscat too much." GUtech female student, Muscat.

The results are not only dependent on the presence of family and the possibilities of employment. As mentioned before, the results are also dependent on generation wise migration. The results show variety in respondents' perceptions of the future among first-generation migrant students. Most of them indicated they prefer to return to their home region upon graduation – for family commitments or because of aspirations to 'serve' their own town or village e.g. with their education and skills obtained. Others thought they would base their decision about future place of residence on their employment opportunities, with Muscat in mind as the most likely place to find a decent job.

For all students, outside and inside Muscat, their own identity has a great influence in their future perspective. The beliefs they have has influence on what they might become in the future. Their identity can change, which is dependent on the new circumstances they experience. Identities provide guidance for behaviour, thereby reducing uncertainties and buffering against stress and anxiety. Important in identity is kinship, lifestyle, gender and so on. The tribal, family, friends and gender has great influence on how students perceive things, as made clear in the future perspectives of female and male, on the family perspectives of gender and the different lifestyles which cope differently with the same things. Therefore it seems that family decisions play a big role in student lives. Nevertheless, although they might have preceded the same things, their future perspectives are different from each other. For all students, family, gender roles, tribal roles influence not only in their attachment to place, but also in their feeling at home.

The government of Oman tries to influence future patterns. Because Muscat is becoming over-urbanized (including all the problems), they try to develop new parts of Oman. In recent years, the national government has implemented various investment decisions and policies that encourage a more dispersed geographical distribution of economic growth and infrastructure development. In addition, in order to meet its population strategy objectives, services, roads and facilities need to be at an adequate level in all parts of the country, assuring a standard of living and quality of life that is accessible to anyone, regardless of their place of residence. While some foresee that Omanis will be willing to move to Ad Duqm (a coastal village of 5,000 inhabitants which is envisaged to transform into a new regional centre with some 200,000 inhabitants) or Sohar if economic opportunities arise, from the student observations there is little evidence that students who were raised in Muscat, are ready to leave the capital area to work elsewhere. As mentioned before, future regional economic development policies should carefully take into account the potentials and constraints as regards the current and future population in those regions, especially in the case of Ad Duqm. Not only the 'inside' students but also the 'outside' students indicate that they would not like to go there. They prefer either Muscat or their own home. There would be no place like Muscat would provide so many and diverse employment opportunities. They see the need for those plans, but would not join the project themselves.

4.6 Relationship between the village and city

Identity and place attachment – shortly, 'home' - fuels connections between the village and the city. In Oman, the influence of 'home' in these linkages, mainly created by (temporary) migration and mobility, is high. Improved road networks, transport and communication means facilitate the interaction between the rural and the urban, as was noted by the students' frequent travels back to the home region, keeping close contact with the family back home by telephone and their noticing of new urban influences in rural areas, such as urban building styles and furniture. On the other hand, students also observed a widening gap between urban and rural areas, especially with regard to the level of employment. Omanis who leave the rural areas to find work in the urban centres are replaced by migrant workers: foreigners increasingly take up work such as agricultural labour, cultivation of dates, craft work and services – as stated in the paragraph 4.2.4.

The fact that Muscat increasingly becomes 'home' to Omanis, despite their tribal and regional backgrounds, may have repercussions for urbanization trends in the country. In addition to natural increase and a still growing influx of expats, internal migration does contribute to rising urbanization levels. Urbanization puts pressure on the demand for housing, price of land and property, drinking water supply, waste disposal, traffic and transport, and security. Census data of 2003 show that in 2003 the total number of housing units in Oman had increased from 344,846 housing units in 1993 to 430,996, an increase of dwellings of 25%, - of which the majority are in the urban areas. It has been claimed that in Oman, urban growth is not accompanied by economic growth, and that internal and external migration rates exceed the absorption capacity of the urban economy. Hence, not only environmentally but also economically, rapid urbanization appears to prove unsustainable.

The push-pull theory is valid to a certain extent. In the area of origin, there are no options for getting free tertiary education and there is only a limited supply of employment. In some cases, there are some colleges nearby, but these have a high tuition fee. For example, Sur University costs for the most basic study per year 1600 RO (\leq 2900), excluding the accommodation of 200 rial per month (\leq 360). Next to it, students believe that the opportunities in Muscat (especially males) are higher than in their own area of origin. Therefore, intervening obstacles as distance (major obstacle), infrastructure (minor obstacle) and mobility (minor obstacle) do not play a big part. There are some socio-cultural distances, with respect to urban life and different lifestyles, but these can be overcome. Personal factors can include the restriction and the forces of home (especially family) and some of the students have agreed that after studying a bachelor they will first work, and for some they already had worked before going to study.

Important to note that this is all influenced by the fact that 'being urban' is not an aspiration for most Omani. They first find a job somewhere and then move there, not the other way around (go to the city to find a job). They do not have this urge or drive to be urban. Necessities are in the city, therefore they have to move, but they do not move because they want to be part of the city, as can be seen in the students' answers on the view of city live.

"The only reason to be in the city is because this is where you can find employment. If I knew I could find employment and education somewhere else, I would go there." SQU male student, Nizwa.

Furthermore, the geographical location of a place plays a part in the urban aspirations. For some village/region, Muscat is proximity; they are in the outskirts of Muscat. Therefore, they are very directed towards Muscat. It also depends on aspiration of people to go to Muscat or not. Muscat is centralized; there is where the opportunities are. Exception is now becoming Sohar, which is booming and in between the UAE and Muscat.

"I live near Sohar. Therefore, there is no real need for me to stay in Muscat. There will be jobs in Sohar as well." SQU male student, Falaj Al Qabail

Finally, recent policies of the national government to overcome regional inequalities and to achieve a more geographically even distribution of development seem to fail. Muscat is a primate city in all its facets – with a massively dominant population, economy, infrastructure, provision government investments, level of educational and health services and employment opportunities in the country. It continues to have a major pull on migrants, both from within and outside the country, while the negative effects of urbanization, congestion and pollution, as well as declining services levels in other parts of the country are important to consider.

5. Conclusion and discussion

This research has aimed to give insight into the complex relationship between sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students on the one hand and their spatial mobility, aspirations and attitudes on the other hand. The main research question is:

To what extent does sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students in Muscat influence their spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes?

The travelling and visiting patterns of students are influenced by their place of origin and place of residence. For students of which the place of origin is not their place of residence, a temporary cyclical migration pattern exists: while many study and live in Muscat during weekdays, they return to their families in the place of origin in the weekends. Whereas infrastructure and modes of transport do not seem to limit students in their travel behaviour, distance does. The further the distance between the place of origin and the place of study, the less inclined respondents are to travel. By creating this pattern of temporary cyclical migration, some factors of the push-pull theory, as described by Lee (1966), can be overcome. The students have to migrate to Muscat to get tertiary education, but can still keep in contact with their family and friends in the place of origin, declining the intervening obstacles. Their push and pull factors are mirrored, since there is no availability of education (or jobs) in their place of origin, while the (desired) place of residence has. The flow of people is therefore driven by educational needs, as described by Castells (1998). Nevertheless, a strict approach of the push-pull theory would be invalid, since a role is played by social processes and the decision takes place on an individual level. Furthermore, the theory cannot take the temporary and cyclical pattern of week-weekends into account.

The reason for this pattern to evolve is partly created by the (strength of) place attachment the students have to their place of origin. This place attachment is formed by cultural, social and physical attachment. Culturally, this attachment is created by the tribal society of Oman and certain cultural customs. Students expressed a strong feeling towards their tribal background. This is not only the case for the students who have a different place of origin than their place of residence, but also for students who have lived in Muscat their whole life. They, although they have not lived in their place of family ancestry, also express feeling towards their tribal background, but less strong in comparison with 'outside' students. Nevertheless, it is seen that some of the students consider the tribe or the village as less important in identifying who is a member of another group than the place people currently reside (especially seen by those students of which Muscat is place of residence and place of origin). The links with the tribes become weaker per generation, which confirms the insights of Valeri (2009). Culturally, it is also seen as a custom to visit family in the weekends. The social attachment is created by the presence of family and friends in the place of origin or in the family ancestry place of origin. According to the research, the presence of family and friends makes people feel at ease and creates a feeling of belonging somewhere for the students. Family and friends are the main reason for the cyclical migration pattern to exist. The physical attachment is based on memories and perceptions of the surroundings, which is mainly based on memories on the peaceful, beautiful and quiet surrounding in the case of 'outside' students and on memories of availability of services (malls) and luxury in the case of 'inside' students.

This place attachment does not have the same strength for all the students who have their place of origin outside Muscat. From the 'outside' students that were interviewed, fifty percent has a strong place attachment to the place of origin, which results in a positive view of the place of origin versus a more negatively view of Muscat. Muscat is considered expensive and is associated with responsibility. The hometown is associated with simplicity, quietness, relaxation and commonness, which can be used to counterbalance the hectic life of a city. For 10% of the 'outside' students, there is no or little place attachment to the place of origin but a strong place attachment towards the place of residence. Following from this, is a positive view of Muscat and a negative view of place of origin. Around 40% of the 'outside' students have difficulties with place attachment to either place of residence or place of origin and do not really have a clear black-andwhite perception of negative versus positive feelings. For most students, the social attachment is greater than the physical attachment. As stated by Hidalgo & Hernandez (2001), also in this research, the place attachment of women is greater than men. For students of whom the place of origin is place of residence, it is more difficult to state their place attachment. Culturally, they attach to the place of origin of their family ancestry, while social and physical they attach to their own place of origin, where they are born. For them, place of origin is as well as the place of family ancestry as their place of birth.

Next to attachment to the place of origin, most students who do not have Muscat as place of origin extend the links with the village towards Muscat. It is interesting to note that the ties with the area of origin, and with the tribe, are still manifested in everyday life among 'outside' students. Many of the (male) students from the Sultan Qaboos University live together in apartments and rooms with people from the same region. However, this will never create a home to the same extent as in the place of origin, since the cultural and psychical attachment does not exists, while social attachment is very low. 'Home' thus has a great influence on the interaction and mobility patterns of 'outside' students, and for the large majority, 'home' is not their place of residence in Muscat – whether they live in dorms away from their parents or whether they live in Muscat with their close relatives but are originally from a different region. For the students, home is created by the (strength) of place attachment and identity. The identity of the students is formed by group processes, social and cultural values and their own beliefs. Identity helps them to get grips with the different external influences and helps to guide their behaviour, while still being authentic to themselves. As said by Schwartz et al. (2011), identity is not a thing but a feeling, intention and created by memory, which can help students to create and sustain boundaries. Due to the presence of family in the place of origin and the formed identity based on the place of origin, students have strong linkages with their place of origin. These linkages are affected by the family migrant history.

The position the respondent takes up in the migrant history of the (extended) family is important in the amount of visits to the place of origin. Students who are the first in their family to migrate to Muscat tend to go home more often. The more relatives reside outside the home region, especially in Muscat, the less place attachment and likeliness to return home there seems to be. Most of the internal migration has happened step-wise and generation-wise, whereby earlier generations migrated from their village to a regional town. In some cases, earlier generations have migrated from other countries such as Bahrain and Zanzibar, returning to their village when Sultan Qaboos came to power. These movements were from farther to nearer and nearer places until the students themselves or their parents moved to the primate city: Muscat. In Oman, this usually also means that the movement are hierarchical with regard to population size: from their sparsely inhabited village to more densely populated areas. In most cases, this stepwise migration was as well as respect to distance factors as population size as described by Afolayan (1985). It is however not the case that people would move from traditional rural environments to modern urban environments, as described by Paul (2011). Due to the conditions of Oman, people would move from so-called traditional rural environment to modern sub-urban environments and from there to the urban environment. The opposites traditional-modern in Oman are not as strong as described by Paul (2011).

According to the literature by Case (1996) it is possible that, through the absence of home for the students, they get more feeling of home. From the interviews it is seen that the students of which the place of origin is also the place of residence have more difficulty with stating what home is than the students of which this is not the case. The longer one is away from home, the stronger and more significant it is about home that they miss and wish to regain by returning to it. Therefore, because they are not away from home, it is more difficult for them to grasp place attachment, belonging and home, since they do not have anything to compare it with. As stated by Blunt & Dowling (2006) and Terkenli (2005), people know more about home by its absence from a non-home perspective. Furthermore, the city of Muscat does not really have an own identity. This can also explain the fact that although even the students' parents are living in Muscat, they will still say they originate from the region of their grandparents. Nevertheless, because of mobility, relations between place and home are changing, but more altered than gone, which supports the thesis of Wiborg (2004) instead of Castells (1998), who argues that due to mobility and space of flows there is no possibility of a strong affection.

For most students, home represents the students' sense of belonging somewhere. Home describes ideas about people's relationship with one another, especially family, and with places, spaces and things and their interrelations. The significance of home is for most students larger than the geographical space where one belongs, as discussed in the theoretic framework by Gonçalves & Morais (2008). Home refers to a place where one would encounter protectiveness and a sense of being surrounded by individuals who seemingly share the same characteristics. All the students do encounter positive feelings on home. Negative feelings are not combined with home, as suggested by Blunt & Dowling (2006) in feelings of home. Important components of identity are kinship, lifestyle and gender. The students base their attachment on relations with friends, family and emotional self-attributions. The meaning people ascribe to their home and how they describe relationships to their home are part of a persons' identity as stated by Wiborg (2004). The identity of the students is formed by group processes, social and cultural values and their own beliefs. Home is mostly created by the social attachment, although in some cases the peacefulness and other things of the physical are named as why they feel at ease. Although similarities between students exist, their own experiences, orientations and behaviour determines the attachment to a place and what becomes home (or not). Home is therefore dependent on the combination of personal factors and attachment, as stated by Schwartz et al. (2011). Their identity can change over time, with new experiences and alteration of circumstances. Furthermore, it helps them making boundaries and can help to create buffers against the new circumstances students are involved in. As said before, entering into a new environment, it helps the students from outside Muscat tolerate to their kinship, class, gender and lifestyle they have known from before, as concluded by Bagger et al. (2008).

Home has an influence on how students perceive their future. There are gender differences in the approach of the future. Male students have a focus on employment, whereas female students focus on closeness to family and friends. This difference in perspectives is partly created by the (cultural) obligation of males to support their family, while females have the 'obligation' to create and support their family in more 'caring' ways. Important to consider is the time span people lived somewhere. The home of origin represents their childhoods and their personal memories, while they have lived only a (relative) short time in Muscat. Because of these gender expectations and influence of family on the students, a form of rootedness is created. This ties an individual or a group of individuals to one or more specific place-people-time points of reference, which prevents individual growth. As Lee (1966) stated, a person who has once migrated and who has once broken the bonds which tie him to the place in which he has spent his childhood, is more likely to migrate again than is the person who has never previously migrated. This proves to be true in the case of Oman as can be seen in the response of students living in Muscat and do not want to migrate to another place in Oman. Nevertheless, most of these factors are not the actual factors at origin and destination, but a perception of these factors. Personal sensitivities, intelligence, and awareness of conditions elsewhere enter into the evaluation of the situation at origin, and knowledge of the situation at destination depends upon personal contacts or upon sources of information which are not universally available.

For the students, home is a mixed definition. It consists of a physical structure, territory, locus in space, self and self-identity as a social and cultural unit, as seen in Gonçalves & Morais (2008) and Mallet (2004). Home can refer as much to beliefs, customs or traditions as physical places or buildings. It can be concluded that in Oman home, including all its facets, has a great influence upon the spatial mobility, future and aspirations of the student. The sense of home, family ties and place attachment in their place of origin and place of residence, together with their spatial mobility, future aspirations and attitudes are highly influencing each other. The sense of home and family ties are dependent upon family history and migration. These still have an influence on the students' perspectives of their future, as well as the influence of cultural expectations. In most cases, the family can constrain and encourage (social) behaviour. It influences the identity of the students, which is shaped by social and cultural factors. Students develop an affective bond or link with their place of origin, which greatly influences how they think about themselves and about their future, as stated by Hauge (2007). Next to influencing the students and their families, it has also consequences for the urbanization in the country, for habits in the society and for the challenges for the government. The differences between the 'inside' and 'outside' students are not enormous: the 'outside' students have, due to different factors, more grip on what they call home than the 'inside' students, while the 'inside' students have a clearer future perspective.

The research question that has been addressed is to what extent does sense of home, family ties and place attachment of Omani university students in Muscat influence their spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes. The interviews prove that home (which includes family ties and place attachment) has a great influence upon the spatial mobility, aspirations and future attitudes of students. By attaching to a place, students are influenced in their mobility and attitude. Even students of which place attachment to home is low experience a considerable influence of family and cultural factors on their aspirations and future attitudes. Home is, as said by Blunt (2006), a set of intersecting and variable ideas and feelings, which related to connect and constructs places. Places are not geographically set, but created by certain influences of place attachment and ones identity. 'Outside' students create home, and alter home, during their stay in Muscat. By their stay in Muscat, they come to realise what home is and thereby create home. For the 'inside' students, this process of creating home is difficult, since their home is taken for granted by influence of family and relatives and cultural customs. Home is the expression of one's identity, since persons create it together with attachment to a place.

Recommendation for further research on this topic can include research on internal migration in the other Middle Eastern countries. The development processes of the different countries are look-a-like, and it would be interesting to know if the discovered patterns in Oman are valid for other Middle Eastern countries. Furthermore, it would be interesting to see if these patterns are also true for the southern part of Oman, whereby Salalah plays an important role. Next to it, developments are going very rapidly and it would be interesting to see what the outcomes are within five years, and also to see to what extent future perspectives have been true

for the students. Furthermore, it would be interesting to see gender implication of cultural customs and the alteration of gender rules. From the interviews, the GUtech female students were more considering the possibility of a job than the students from SQU. This can be an interesting point of research. Another interesting angle with be to see to what extent the sense of home, family ties and place attachment have influence on the spatial mobility, aspirations and attitudes of employees.

Bibliography

2011 Omani Protests (2011), Wikipedia [online]. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2011_Omani_protests [cited on 14 June 2011].

- Abdul Hamid Laithi, M. bin, J. bin Mohammed Hindawi, S. bin Mohammed Al Khadouri, M. Faraj Al Jabri & F. Ahmed Almip (2010), عُمان في والا تحضر والهجرة الا سكادي الا توزيع. Muscat: Ministry of National Economic. Unpublished.
- Afolayan, A.A. (1985), Is there a Step-Wise migration in Nigeria? A Case study of the Migrational Histories of Migrants in Lagos. Geojournal, vol. 11, issue 2, pp. 183 193.
- Al-Awadi, T. (2008), Analysis, assessment and modelling of the Urban Growth in Greater Muscat, Sultanate of Oman, Using Geographical Information Systems & Remote Sensing. Egyptian Journal Remote Sensing & Space Science, vol. 11, pp. 93 - 108.
- Al-Gharabi, H. (2010), Urban Growth in Muscat: from Patchwork to Sustainability. Berlin: TU Berlin.
- Al-Harthy, H. (2011) Interview by author. Oman: Nizwa.
- Bagger, J., A. Li & B.A. Gutek (2008), How much do you value your family and does it matter? The joint effects of family identity salience, family-interference-with-work, and gender. Human relations, vol. 61, issue 2, pp. 187 - 211.
- Black, R. (2002), Conceptions of 'home' and the political geography of refugee repatriation:
 between assumption and contested reality in Bosnia-Herzegovina. Applied geography, vol. 22, issue 2, pp. 123 138.
- Blunt, A. & R. Dowling (2006), Home. New York: Routledge.
- Boyle, P., K. Halfacree & V. Robinson (1998), Exploring Contemporary Migration. Harlow: Pearson Prentince Hall.
- Case, D. (1996), Contributions of Journeys Away to the Definition of Home: an Empirical Study of a Dialectical Process. Journal of Environmental Psychology, vol. 16, pp. 1 15.
- Castells, M. (1998) The Information Age: Economy, society, culture. Volume 3: End of Millennium. Oxford: Blackwell.

CIA Factbook (2011), Middle East - Oman [online].

- https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mu.html [cited on 25 January 2011].
- Cinnirella, M. (1998), Exploring temporal aspects of social identity: the concept of possible social identities. European Journal of Social Psychology vol. 28, pp. 227 248.
- El-Arifi, S.A. (1986), The Nature of Urbanization in the Gulf Countries. Geojournal, vol. 13, issue 3, pp. 223 235
- ESCWA (2009), ESCWA Country Profiles 2009. Beirut: United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia.
- Faddegon, K., D. Scheepers & Naomi Ellemers (2008), If we have the will, there will be a way:
 Regulatory focus as group identity. European Journal of Social Psychology, vol. 38, pp. 880
 895.
- Gonçalves, G.R. & J.B.O de Morais (2008), Toward a migrant politics of location. Revista de letras / Universidade Católica de Brasília , vol. 1, issue 2. pp. 16 25.

Grolier Interactive (2002), Sultanate of Oman. New York: Grolier.

- GUtech (2011), German University of Technology [online]. http://gutech.edu.om [cited on 15 January 2011].
- Haas, H. de (2008), Working Papers Migration and development: A theoretical perspective. Oxford: International Migration Institute.
- Hareven, T.K. (1991), The Home and the Family in Historical Perspective. Social research, vol. 58, issue 1, pp. 253 285
- Hauge, A.L. (2007), Identity and place: a critical comparison of three identity theories. Architectural Science Review.
- Hidalgo & Hernandez (2001), Place Attachment: Conceptual and Empirical Questions. Journal of Environmental Psychology, vol. 21, pp. 273 281.
- Hoek, C. (1998), Shifting Sands. Social-economic development in al-Sharqiyah region, Oman. Nijmegen University Press.

- Huang, J., S. Rozelle & H. Wang (2006), Fostering or stripping rural China: Modernizing agriculture and rural to urban capital flows. Institute of Developing Economies.
- Kent, R.B. (2006), Contemporary cities and urban patterns. In: Latin America, Regions and People. New York: Guilford Press. Pp. 246 – 268.
- Lee, E.S. (1966), A Theory of Migration. Demography, vol. 3, issue 1, pp. 47 57.
- Lefebvre, J.A. (2009), Oman's Foreign Policy in the Twenty-First Century. New York: The 50th Annual Meeting of the International Studies Association.
- Levitt, P. (1998), Social remittances: Migration driven local-level forms of cultural diffusion. International Migration Review, vol. 32, issue 4, pp. 926 - 948.
- Lewicka, M. (2010), What makes neighbourhood different from home and city? Effects of place scale on place attachment. Journal of Environmental Psychology, vol. 30, issue 1, pp. 35 – 51.
- Malecki, E.J. & M.C Ewers (2007), Labor migration to world cities: with a research agenda for the Arab Gulf. Progress in Human Geography, vol. 31, issue 4, pp. 467 484.
- Mallett, S. (2004), Understanding home: A critical review of the literature. The Sociological Review vol. 52, pp. 62–89.
- Maps of the World (2011), Oman [online]. http://www.mapsofworld.com/oman/maps/oman-political.jpg [cited on 1 February 2011].
- Ministry of Information (2011), Oman [online]. http://www.omanet.om/ [cited in the period January - April 2011].
- Ministry of National Economy (2009), Facts & Figures 2009. Muscat: Sultanate of Oman.

Miriam, J. (1995), The Sultanate of Oman: a twentieth century history. Westport: Praeger.

- Moomaw, R.L. & M.A. Alwosabi (2004), An empirical analysis of competing explanations of urban primacy evidence from Asia and the Americas. Annals of Regional Science, vol. 38, pp. 149 – 171.
- Moore, J. (2000), Placing home in context. Journal of Environmental Psychology vol. 20, pp. 207–217.

- Nowell, S. (2009), Culture smart! the essential guide to customs & culture: Oman. London: Kuperard.
- Oman Census (2010), The preliminary results of census 2010. Muscat: General Census of Population, Housing and Establishment Project 2010.
- Oman Universities (2011), Wikipedia: List of Universities and Colleges in Oman. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_universities_and_colleges_in_Oman [cited on 25 June 2011].
- Oxford Dictionary of Geography (2009), Stepwise Migration. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Fourth Edition.
- Paasi, A. (2002), Bounded spaces in the mobile world: deconstructing regional identity. Tijdschrift voor de Economische en Sociale Geografie 93, pp. 137 148.
- Pater, B. de, T. Béneker & W. Buunk (red.) (2004), Europa. Assen: Koninklijke van Gorcum.
- Paul, A.M. (2011), Stepwise International Migration: A Multistage Migration Pattern for the Aspiring Migrant. American Journal of Sociology, vol. 116, issue 6, pp. 1842 - 1886.
- Riddell, J.B. & M.E. Harvey (1972), The Urban System in the Migration Process: An Evaluation of Step-Wise Migration in Sierra Leone. Economic Geography, vol. 48, issue 3, pp. 270 283.
- Rhoda, R. (1983), Rural Development and Urban Migration: Can We Keep Them Down on the Farm? International Migration Review, Vol. 17, issue 1, pp. 34 64.
- Schwartz, S.J., K. Luyckx, V.L. Vignoles (editors) (2011), Handbook of Identity Theory and Research. Volume 2: Domains and Categories. New York: Springer
- SQU (2011), Sultan Qaboos University [online]. http://www.squ.edu.om/ [cited on 14 June 2011].
- Stöckli, S. (2008), National Entity Tribal Diversity Tribes and State in Oman
- Tacoli, C. (1998), Rural-urban interactions: a guide to the literature. Environment and Urbanization, Vol. 10. issue 1, pp. 147 166.
- Tacoli, C. (2002), Changing rural-urban interactions in sub-Saharan Africa and their impact on livelihoods: a summary. London: International Institute for Environment and Development.

Terkenli, T.S. (1995), Home as a region. Geographical Review, vol. 85, issue 3, pp. 324 - 334

- UNFPA (2007), State of the world population 2007 Unleashing the Potential of Urban Growth. New York: UNFPA.
- Verlinden, P. (2000), Oman en de emiraten aan de Golf: mensen , politiek, economie, cultuur, milieu. Amsterdam: Koninklijk Instituut voor de Tropen.
- Valeri, M. (2009), Oman: Politics and Society in the Qaboos State. Hurst & Company, 2009.
- Wiborg, A. (2004), Place, Nature and Migration: Students' Attachment to their Rural Home Places. Sociologia Ruralis, vol. 44, issue 4, pp. 416 - 432.
- Zawya (2011), Middle East News [online]. https://www.zawya.com/middle-east/countries/oman/ [cited on 28 January 2011].

Appendices

Appendix 1: Topic List

Basic characteristics Name: Age: Region: Place: Family: Study:

Travelling patterns

Transport Time Infrastructure Frequency

Living in Muscat

Where? With whom? How?

Friends and relatives

Place of origin Keeping Contact Living where? Family history? Why (no) visits? Why considered as place of origin?

Feelings

Muscat or village? Belonging where? Why? Memories?

* After the basic characteristics, I have just asked students about their family, living conditions and feelings. The keywords underneath the subjects are more used as words to relate to if students happened to give short answers – which was mainly not the case.

University	Sex	Region	Relatives	Visits	Study
GUtech	Female	Adh Dakhiliyah	Grandmother, some aunts	Special Occasions	
GUtech	Female	Muscat	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Female	Ash Sharqiyah	Aunt, cousins	Special Occasions	
GUtech	Female	Ibri	Aunts, cousins	Special Occasions	
GUtech	Female	Al Musanaah	Grandfathers	Special Occasions	
GUtech	Female	Sudan	-	-	
GUtech	Female	Muscat	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Female	Yemen	-	-	
GUtech	Female	Salalah	Great-uncle	Almost none	
GUtech	Female	Ash Sharqiyah	Nobody	Almost none	
GUtech	Female	Adh Dakhiliyah	Great-uncle	Almost none	
GUtech	Female	Adh Dakhiliyah	Great-uncle	Almost none	
GUtech	Female	Muscat (Al Hamra)	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Male	Muscat (Al Hamra)	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Male	Adh Dakhiliyah	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Female	Al Wusta	Aunt	Special Occasions	
GUtech	Male	Muscat	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Male	Bahla	Aunt, uncles	Special Occasions	
GUtech	Male	Muscat (Mattrah)	Everyone	Daily/weekly	
GUtech	Male	Bahla	Aunts, uncles etc.	Twice a month	
GUtech	Female	Fanja	Parents, uncles, aunts	Weekly (esp. Friday)	
GUtech	Female	Bahla	Uncles, aunts	Twice a month	
GUtech	Male	Ar Rustaq	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Female	Muscat	Everyone		
GUtech	Male	Muscat	Everyone		
GUtech	Female	Muscat (Al Bustan)	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	
GUtech	Male	Ibri	Mother, oldest brother	Once/twice month	
GUtech	Male	Al Musanaah.	Brother	Once/twice month	
SQU	Male	Nizwa	Mother, sister, brother, rest	Every weekend	
SQU	Male	Nizwa (Firq)	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Ibri	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Adam	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Bahla	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Ibri	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism

Appendix 2: Respondents Overview

SQU	Male	Ibri,	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Falaj Al-Qabail	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Falaj Al-Qabail	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Liwa	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Falaj Al Qabail, Sohar	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Bidbid	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Shinas (Mirir Al-Matanish)	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Female	Fanja	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Female	Ash Shuwayhah	Everyone	Every weekend	Tourism
SQU	Male	Quriyyat	Everyone	Every weekend	
SQU	Male	Shinas	Everyone	Every weekend	
SQU	Male	Sohar	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Male	Ibri	Everyone	Every weekend	Engineering
SQU	Male	Ar Rustaq	Everyone	Every weekend	FY SQU, Engineering
SQU	Male	Nizwa	Everyone	Every weekend	Engineering
SQU	Male	Ibri	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Male	Yanqul	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Male	Sohar.	Everyone	Every weekend	Engineering
SQU	Male	Midayfa	Everyone	Every weekend	Engineering
SQU	Male	Izki	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Male	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Male	Sohar (nearby village)	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Male	Izki	Everyone	Every weekend	Education/mathematics/IT
SQU	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	Technology
SQU	Female	Shiya	Everyone	Every weekend	Technology
SQU	Female	Ash Sharqiyah	Everyone	Every weekend	Technology
SQU	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Female	Khasab	Everyone	Once a month	English Language
SQU	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Female	Al Batinah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language
SQU	Female	Al Musaanah	Everyone	Every weekend	English Language

Appendix 3: Map Regional Division





Scale: 1:12,500,000



